
Summons to Meeting

Thursday 9 August 2018

Development Panel
Tuesday 21 August 2018, 1.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Ron Munby Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor David Wilson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502.

Agenda
Site visits  
The following site visits will take place:

2/2018/0096 - Former Police Station, Eaglesfield Street, Maryport - Outline 
application for conversion of former police station and court into 7 apartments, 
demolition of store to erect 1 bungalow and demolition of former stable garage

HOU/2018/0159 - 108 Sycamore Road, Maryport - Two storey side extension to 
create garage and additional living accommodation

Members of the Development Panel will be picked up from Allerdale House, 
Workington. The bus will leave at 10.20 am.

1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 14)
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2018.

2. Apologies for Absence  

Page 1



3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting.

5. 2/2018/0096 - Former Police Station, Eaglesfield Street, Maryport - Outline 
application for conversion of former police station and court into 7 
apartments, demolition of store to erect 1 bungalow and demolition of 
former stable garage  (Pages 15 - 38)
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
179811

6. 2/2018/0275 - Land at Borriskill, Ellenborough, Maryport - Outline planning 
permission for the erection of a dwelling with all matters reserved  (Pages 
39 - 52)
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
185812

7. HOU/2018/0159 - 108 Sycamore Road, Maryport - Two storey side 
extension to create garage and additional living accommodation  (Pages 53 
- 60)
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
188030

8. 2/2018/0214 - Land at Abbey Road, Abbeytown - Outline consent for 
erection of dwellinghouses  (Pages 61 - 78)
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
183870

Monitoring Officer

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 18 September 2018, 1.00 pm
Council Chamber, Allerdale House

Page 2

https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=179811
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=179811
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=185812
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=185812
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=188030
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=188030
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=183870
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=183870


At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Tuesday 24 July 2018 at 1.00 pm

Members

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Nicky Cockburn
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Alan Hedworth
Councillor Mark Jenkinson Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor Philip Tibble
Councillor David Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Carole Armstrong, Councillor 
Janet Farebrother and Councillor Ron Munby

Staff Present

S Brook, B Carlin, D Devine, A Gilbert, K Kerrigan, S Long and S Sharp

104. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 2018 were signed a correct record.

105. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

106. Questions 

None received.

The Planning Implementation Manager made the following statement: 

“The following items 5, 6 and 7 on the agenda are all applications that either 
propose a new retail store on Low Road in Cockermouth or seek the continued 
trading of an existing retail store without compliance with conditions.

Each application should be considered on its own merits and in accordance with 
the requirements of section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. That is to say, the 1999 Local Plan settlement limits and the 2014 Local 
Plan Part 1 have primacy in the decision making process but the Panel may 
wish to afford weight to other material considerations such as the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2012.

Members will see from the respective officer’s reports that such a weighting 
process of development plan policy and other material considerations has been 
undertaken.

Members will also note that G L Hearn was instructed by the Council to 
undertake a peer review of the assessments undertaken by the applicants, 
specifically in relation to retail impact. The peer review explicitly looked at 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



different scenarios including where all three applications are granted and 
implemented. The Review also assessed the implications of the Lidl store on 
the old WCF site being open. 

This approach has been taken to ensure the robustness of the Panel’s 
resolutions, as the existence of adjoining applications is a material 
consideration, specifically in relation to cumulative impact.

Therefore, for the application 2/2018/0051, which is for the variation to the 
goods sold from the mezzanine in the existing store, your resolution taken for 
the preceding application 2/2018/0050, will affect the weight you afford to that 
application. That is to say, if you resolve to grant permission for the variance to 
the main store’s trading, more weight should be afforded to this proposal than if 
it was merely an application pre-Panel consideration. However, you may 
determine that the change in weight is not material to your overall consideration. 
The same considerations should apply when you come to consider the proposal 
for the new store, 2/2018/0070, with weight being afforded to the preceding 
applications for the existing store’s proposed variations the weight being 
dependent on your resolutions. 

The officers’ recommendations for all the applications is to approve subject to 
conditions but, as the application 2/2018/0070 is for a new retail store, the 
overall balance of considerations is different with matters such as setting of 
designated heritage assets being material. Therefore, if there is a consistent 
approach taken to considerations common to all three applications, it is still 
possible to arrive at different conclusions for the existing and new stores. 

What is important is that, if members resolve to grant one site and refuse the 
other, then the reasoning for the difference is made very clear.

Finally, I have received a query as to why applications 2/2018/50 and 51 
relating to the existing store precede 2/2018/0070 for the new store on the 
agenda. This is simply because applications 50 and 51 were received valid 
first.“

107. 2/2018/0050 - Application to vary condition 3 of planning application 
2/1998/0862 - Lakes Home Centre, Low Road, Cockermouth 

Representations

Paul Carr spoke in objection to the application.

Councillor Joan Ellis, Ward Councillor for Christchurch Cockermouth spoke 
against the application.

Application

The Senior Planning Officer recommended approval subject to conditions. 
Condition 4 in the report was no longer recommended.

The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows:

Page 4



 Retail impact on the vitality and viability of the town centre:

Supporting retail statement submitted with the application was 
independently evaluated by a retail consultant commissioned by the 
Council. It is considered the proposal would not have an adverse impact 
on the vitality or viability of the town centre

 Variation to the types of goods allowed to be sold:

The variation of the goods to generic “convenience“ and “comparison” 
good types was included as part of the overall retail impact with no 
adverse impact on the vitality or viability of the town centre

 Town centre viability:

An acceptable sequential assessment has been provided which 
concludes that those sites in closer proximity to the town centre are 
neither suitable and/or available. The fact that the site operates as an 
existing retail store is a material consideration.

 Highway impact:

The Highways Authority has raised no objection.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 

The meeting adjourned and then reconvened.

Following member discussion, Councillor M Grainger moved that the application 
be approved as per the officer’s recommendation. This was seconded by 
Councillor B Miskelly.

A vote was taken on the motion for approval as per the officer’s 
recommendation. 6 voted in favour, 4 voted against and 1 abstained from 
voting. The motion was carried.

Resolution 

Approve subject to conditions 

Conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans:
96059-00 Location Plan
Planting Layout Part 1
98059-01 Planting Layout Part 2
98059-01B Site Layout
Amendment Letter 01/02/99

Page 5



98059-0 Elevations Sheet 1 of 2 Option 4 (amended plan received 
01/02/99)
98059-0 Elevations Sheet 2 of 2 Option 4 (amended plan received 
01/02/99)
Amendment Letter 26/02/99
98059-09P Drainage Layout Part 1 of 2 (amended plan received 
26/02/99)
East Elevation (amended plan received 26/02/99)

Plans received relating to a condition application:
98059-10A Site, Planting and Drainage Layout Part 2 of 2 (Drainage 
Omitted) (received 19/04/99)
98059-11C Ground Floor Plan (received 19/04/99)
98059-12B Elevations Sheet 1 of 2 (received 19/04/99)
98059-13D Elevations Sheet 2 of 2 (received 19/04/99)
98059-14C Sections (received 19/04/99)
98059-16A Mezzanine Floor Plan (received 19/04/99)

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in 
complete accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-
material alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

2. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no 
development shall be erected and no trees, bushes or other plants shall 
be planted or be permitted to grow within the visibility splays (providing 
clear visibility of 9.0 metres x 120.0 metres measured down the centre of 
the access road and the near-side channel line of the major road) which 
obstruct the approved visibility splays.

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interest of 
public safety.

3. The approved access and or parking provision implemented at the site 
shall be retained and be capable of use at all times and shall not be 
removed or altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To ensure that proper access and parking provision is made 
and retained for use in relation to the development.

4. All areas used for the storage, handling, loading and unloading of fuels, 
oils, chemicals, or effluents must have an impermeable base, to prevent 
discharge of contaminated drainage or accidental spillages to 
underground strata or surface waters.

Reason: To prevent water pollution.

5. Prior to the commencement of any convenience shopping at the site, the 
applicant shall prepare and submit to the Local Planning Authority for 
their approval a Travel Plan which shall identify the measures that will be 

Page 6



undertaken by the developer to encourage the achievement of a modal 
shift away from the use of private cars to visit the development to 
sustainable transport modes and safeguard the existing car parking 
facilities at the site. The convenience retail use shall not commence until 
the Travel Plan has been approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and the measures identified in the Travel Plan shall be 
implemented by the developer within 12 months of the development 
opening for business, and retained at all times thereafter.

Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in 
compliance with Policies S2 and S22 of the Allerdale local Plan.

6. The retail sales area of the ground floor shall not exceed 1826 sq m and 
of that sales area there shall not be more than 546 sq m (30%) available 
for the sale and display of convenience goods. The area available for the 
sale and display of comparison goods shall not exceed 1280 sq m (70%).

Reason: In order to safeguard the vitality and viability of the existing town 
centre and other retail units, in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policies S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

108. 2/2018/0051 - Application to vary condition 2 on application 2/2008/0533 - 
Lakes Home Centre, Low Road, Cockermouth 

Representations

Paul Carr spoke in objection to the application.

Councillor Joan Ellis, Ward Councillor for Christchurch Cockermouth spoke 
against the application.

Application

The Senior Planning Officer recommended approval subject to conditions.

The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows:

 Retail impact on the vitality and viability of the town centre:

Supporting retail statement submitted with the application was 
independently evaluated by a retail consultant commissioned by the 
Council. It is considered the proposal would not have an adverse impact 
on the vitality or viability of the town centre

 Variation to the types of goods allowed to be sold:

The variation of the goods to generic “convenience“ and “comparison” 
good types was included as part of the overall retail impact with no 
adverse impact on the vitality or viability of the town centre

Page 7



 Town centre viability:

An acceptable sequential assessment has been provided which 
concludes that those sites in closer proximity to the town centre are 
neither suitable and/or available. The fact that the site operates as an 
existing retail store is a material consideration.

 Highway impact:

The Highways Authority has raised no objection.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 

Following discussion, Councillor M Grainger moved that the application be 
approved as per the officer’s recommendation. This was seconded by 
Councillor B Pegram.

A vote was taken on the motion for approval as per the officer’s 
recommendation. 6 voted in favour, 4 voted against and 1 abstained from 
voting. The motion was carried.

Resolution

Approve subject to conditions 

Conditions

1. The retail sales area of the mezzanine shall not exceed 874sq m and of 
that sales area there shall not be more than 262 sq m (30%) available for 
the sale and display of convenience goods. The area available for the 
sale and display of comparison goods shall not exceed 612 sq m (70%).

Reason: In order to safeguard the vitality and viability of the existing town 
centre and other retail units, in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policies S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

2. The change of goods sold as hereby permitted shall not commence until 
a Travel Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority and shall be implemented within 12 months of being 
brought into use.

Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in 
accordance with Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

3. Upon commencement of the change of goods hereby approved, an 
annual report reviewing the effectiveness of the Travel Plan associated 
with that change and including any necessary amendments or measures, 
as well as timing for their implementation, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any amendments 

Page 8



hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
timescales.

Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives from 
the operational use of the site in accordance with Policy S22 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

The meeting adjourned and then reconvened.

109. 2/2018/0070 - Hybrid application - Erection of retail unit (Class A1) with 
external garden centre (Full Application), Employment unit (Class B1, B2, 
and B8) (Outline Application with details of appearance reserved), 
including access, parking, landscaping and associated works - Land at 
Low Road, Cockermouth 

Representations

Gary Whetton, Councillor Joan Ellis on behalf of Julian Simpson, David Siddall, 
Hilary Tattershall, Mr Chippindale and Paul Carr spoke in objection to the 
application.

Councillor Alan Tyson spoke against the application on behalf of Cockermouth 
Town Council.

Councillor Joan Ellis, Ward Councillor for Christchurch Cockermouth spoke 
against the application.

Jeremy Williams, the agent for the application spoke in support.

Application

The Senior Planning Officer recommended approval subject to conditions and 
the signing of a s106 agreement to secure financial sums for the monitoring of a 
Travel Plan and the implementation of a Traffic Regulation Order if necessary.

The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows:

 Principle of the development:

Development of the scale proposed in general terms is considered to be 
appropriate in terms of the functional role of Cockermouth as a key 
service town within the settlement hierarchy.

Redevelopment of the eastern part of the site which has previously been 
developed would accord with Policies S3 and S30 for the re-use of 
previously developed land.

The proposed uses would be generally compatible with existing 
commercial and residential development to the east.

Page 9



 Loss of employment allocation:

Following external review of the marketing exercise undertaken to date 
for the existing employment allocation, it is considered that the site has 
been marketed appropriately and for a reasonable period. The criteria of 
Policy DM3 for the release of allocated employment sites is considered 
to be met and the proposed mixed use scheme is the next sequentially 
preferable option.

 Town centre viability:

An acceptable sequential assessment has been provided which 
concludes that those sites in closer proximity to the town centre are 
neither suitable and/or available.

An impact assessment has been provided by the applicant for the 
revised retail scheme and this has been reviewed on behalf of the 
Council by external consultants. This review concludes that the proposal, 
either individually or cumulatively with the consented development of 
WCF/Lidl and the proposed changes to the types of goods sold at the 
adjacent Lakes Home Centre, would not have a significant adverse 
impact on the vitality and viability of Cockermouth town centre principally, 
or other centres in the locality.

 Visual impact/loss of trees:

The proposal would result in a significant change overall in the 
appearance of the site, particularly the removal of trees, and would 
extend the built form of the town to the west by approx. 300m. However, 
it must be borne in mind that at least part of the site is allocated for 
development and the built form of the town has been extended west 
through the construction of housing at The Laureates. The development 
as proposed reflects the layout of retail and commercial development 
existing to the east. On balance, therefore, the visual impacts of the 
proposal are considered to be suitably mitigated by the proposed 
landscaping scheme and the proposal is therefore considered acceptable 
with regards to relevant policies of the Allerdale Local Plan.

 Flood risk:

Officers are satisfied that sufficient attempts have been made to consider 
sequentially preferable sites in relation to flood risk. Whilst some sites 
within Flood Zone 1 were identified, these were considered to be in 
locations unsuitable for retail development.

The Local Lead Flood Authority has raised no objection in relation to 
flood risk, subject to conditions.

 Highway impact:

The Highways Authority has raised no objection to the creation of a new 
access off Low Road to serve the proposal, utilising the existing service 

Page 10



road at the Lakes Home Centre for deliveries etc. Whilst concerns were 
initially raised relating to the level of car parking proposed, following the 
provision of additional information relating to the garden centre and by 
restricting the floor area of the proposed employment unit for (should it 
be utilised for a B1 use), these objections have been withdrawn and the 
level of parking provision is considered to be acceptable.

Albeit an edge of centre, the site is considered to be accessible by a 
range of options, other than the private car and therefore sustainable. 
Financial contributions are required relating to Travel Plan monitoring 
and the creation of a Traffic Regulation Order for Low Road to restrict 
parking, should this become necessary in the future.

 Heritage:

The proposal lies opposite a Grade II listed building, The Fitz, and within 
close proximity to the Papcastle and Cockermouth conservation areas. 
The significance of these assets has been considered and the likely 
impact of the proposal on this significance. It is considered that the 
proposal will result in harm to the setting of these heritage assets which 
is considered to be less than substantial. The public benefits of the 
scheme are considered to outweigh this harm, when applying the 
importance and special weight given to the preservation of the setting of 
listed buildings and conservations by s66 and s72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

 Ecology:

The application has been subject to an Appropriate Assessment of 
Effects for the river Derwent SAC/SSSI. Subject to a number of 
conditions including those for preventing pollution to the river Derwent, 
for the protection of nesting birds and the control of Himalayan Balsam, 
the ecological implications are considered to be acceptable.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 

The meeting adjourned and then reconvened.

Councillor N Cockburn moved that the application be refused on the following 
grounds:

1. The local planning authority considers that the proposal would result in 
the loss of saved employment allocation EM2 to the detriment of the 
current and future needs of the spatial strategy and growth for 
Cockermouth as a key service centre, contrary to Policies S3, DM3 and 
S12 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted 2014.

2. The proposal would result in the loss of existing trees protected under 
Tree Preservation Order No.9 of 2017, Low Road, Cockermouth to the 
detriment of the visual amenities and character of the locality and the 

Page 11



approach to the town centre, contrary to Policies S4, S32, S33 and 
DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted 2014.

The motion for refusal was seconded by Councillor T Annison.

A vote was taken on the motion for refusal. 7 voted in favour and 4 voted 
against. The motion was carried.

Councillor M Jenkinson asked for it to be noted that he considered the 
marketing exercise to be flawed given the structure of land ownership and the 
relationship with the agent conducting that exercise.

The Head of Place Development responded that an independent company had 
carried out the exercise.

Decision

Refused

Reasons for refusal

1. The local planning authority considers that the proposal would result in 
the loss of saved employment allocation EM2 to the detriment of the 
current and future needs of the spatial strategy and growth for 
Cockermouth as a key service centre, contrary to Policies S3, DM3 and 
S12 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted 2014.

2. The proposal would result in the loss of existing trees protected under 
Tree Preservation Order No.9 of 2017, Low Road, Cockermouth to the 
detriment of the visual amenities and character of the locality and the 
approach to the town centre, contrary to Policies S4, S32, S33 and 
DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted 2014.

110. 2/2018/0124 - Works to existing farm track to create a temporary site to 
compound access road to be in use until the end of April 2019 - 
Development at Printfield Site, King Street, Wigton 

Representations

Councillor Alan Pitcher spoke in objection to the application on behalf of Alan 
Fell.

Councillor Alan Pitcher, Ward Councillor for Wigton spoke against the 
application.

Application

The Senior Planning Officer recommended approval subject to conditions.

The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows:

Page 12



 Principle:

Temporary haul route considered acceptable.

 Residential amenity:

No significant effects on amenity.

 Flood risk:

Mitigation measures to reduce flood risk are considered to be acceptable 
in reducing the flood risk to residential properties.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 

Councillor P Bales moved that the application be approved as per the officer’s 
recommendation. This was seconded by Councillor P Tibble.

A vote was taken on the motion for approval as per the officer’s 
recommendation. 9 voted in favour and 2 voted against. The motion was 
carried.

Resolution 

Approved subject to conditions 

Conditions

1. This permission is limited to the period expiring on 30 April 2019. 
Immediately on the expiry of that period the use hereby permitted shall 
cease and the land reinstated in accordance with a scheme to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
within 6 weeks from the date of this permission.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of temporary construction in 
the interests of highway safety and the restoration of the site (including 
ensuring there is no increase in flood risk) in compliance with S29 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

2. The mitigation measures outlined within Chapter 4 and Appendix D of the 
Flood Risk Assessment RO/17279.1 Dated March 2018 Version 2 shall 
be carried out within 4 weeks from the date of this permission and 
thereafter retained for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To minimise the risk of flooding, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policies S2 and S29 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

The meeting closed at 4.35 pm

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0096

Proposed 
Development:

Outline application for conversion of former police station and court 
into 7 apartments, demolition of store to erect 1 bungalow and 
demolition of former stable garage to build 2 new houses

Location: Police Station
Eaglesfield Street
Maryport

Applicant: Mr Sarb Rai
Rai Assets Ltd

Recommendation: That the decision to grant permission subject to conditions be 
delegated to the Head of Place Development upon the 
expiration of the statutory publicity period.

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle of 
development

The proposal would see the re-use of existing vacant buildings 
within a Key Service Centre and a viable re-use for this heritage 
asset within the Maryport Conservation Area. Residential use 
would be compatible with the surrounding area. As such, the 
principle of the development is considered to be acceptable. 

Heritage assets The conversion of this existing building, which has both 
architectural and historic value in its own right as well as making a 
positive contribution to the Maryport Conservation Area is 
supported by national and local policy. The partial demolition of 
outbuildings will have some adverse impact on the significance of 
the heritage assets of the Conservation Area and the listed 
buildings adjacent on Fleming Square. This harm is considered to 
be less than substantial and would be outweighed by the public 
benefits of securing the re-use of the building overall and by 
providing additional housing within this Key Service Centre, where 
the delivery of new housing in the current plan period has been 
very limited. 

Sustainability, 
access and parking

The proposal is considered to be within a highly sustainable 
location and, whilst no provision is made for off-street parking, this 
is not considered to be sufficiently detrimental to result in an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, and the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would not be severe.

Residential Amenity The proposal is considered to retain the residential amenity of 
neighbouring properties to an acceptable level in accordance with 
Policy S32 of the ALP (Part 1). Whilst it is accepted that the form 
of the new build will result in a change in the outlook from 4 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



William Street in particular, the outlook from this property is 
already impinged to a large degree by the presence of the stable 
building. Whilst the eaves height will increase, the footprint will 
reduce, thereby altering the outlook from this property but not 
resulting in a significant adverse impact over and above that which 
exists at present

Mix of Housing Having regard to the revised guidance within the NPPF, it is not 
considered appropriate to seek any affordable housing units as 
part of this proposal. 

Ecology The application site is considered to offer some potential for use by 
bats, however this potential is considered to be low. An advisory 
note has been added, should Members be minded to approve the 
application, which provides advice in relation to this species and 
the need for a License from Natural England, should bats be 
found. 

Tilted balance The benefits of providing a meaningful supply of housing derived 
from bringing a vacant heritage asset within a conservation area 
back into use significantly outweigh the adverse impacts when 
assessed against the provisions of the Local Plan and NPPF taken 
as a whole. 

Proposal

The proposal seeks outline planning permission for the conversion of the former police 
station on Eaglesfield Street, Maryport, to seven apartments (2 x 2Bed apartments and 5 x 
1Bed apartments), and the construction of a bungalow and two new houses to the rear of 
the police station. The application is an ‘enhanced’ outline, given its location within the 
Conservation Area. Only details of landscaping are reserved for future consideration. 

Limited external alterations are proposed to the former police station. A new dormer style 
window would be introduced to the Eaglesfield Street elevation, with timber framing and 
lead roof. A two storey extension is proposed to a rear off-shoot of the building, and two 
conservation style rooflights are proposed to the roof slope of the front elevation. 
Internally, the proposal attempts to utilise the existing structure of the building as much 
as possible and retains open yard areas for use as courtyards. Existing timber windows 
are to be retained, albeit some obscuration may be applied where there is potential for 
mutual overlooking between apartments.

The construction of a one bed bungalow and two houses (two storey, with two 
bedrooms), would require the demolition of an existing garage/store and a larger stone 
built building, described in the application as a former stable. The plans indicate that the 
bungalow would be faced with recycled stone masonry and the main elevation would 
face onto the existing access ramp running to the side of the building. The windows 
would have a vertical emphasis, with banding around, typical of the locality. Timber sash 
windows and a timber six panelled door are proposed, with slate to the roof. 

Page 16



Similar materials are proposed for the proposed two dwellings, except external walls 
would be rendered. The two storey units have been positioned within the footprint of the 
former stable block, not utilising it fully (partly left as open space at the eastern extent).  
At first floor level the accommodation is partly contained within the roof, with two box 
dormers proposed to each dwelling. At ground floor level, these units have been set back 
approximately 1.0m, with an overhang at first floor level. 

Provision for bin storage is proposed within a hardstanding area opposite the proposed 
bungalow and to the rear of properties 16 and 18 Eaglesfield Street. 

The plans have been amended during the processing of the application. The 
amendments principally relate to:

 Removal of one unit – a third dwelling was originally proposed facing onto William 
Street. This area now proposes two small store areas for the two houses and an 
area of open space.

 Reduction in the scale of the proposed two houses. 
 Retention of the existing wall across William Street – further to representations 

received, the proposed development no longer includes the opening up of William 
Street to allow pedestrian connectivity from William Street to Eaglesfield Street. 
The revised scheme proposes gated access to William Street from the two houses 
only. 

 Relocation of the proposed bin store
 Removal of off-street parking bays 

Site

The proposal relates to the site of the former police station and associated buildings on 
Eaglesfield Street in Maryport. The building itself is understood to be Victorian and is part 
single storey, part two storey and is constructed of red sandstone, with timber multipane 
windows and slate roof. The architectural styling and detailing of the building has been 
largely retained.  Due to the sloping nature of Eaglesfield Street, the building is 
constructed on a raised platform, with stone wall of increasing height and railings to the 
front. The building is accessed by steps and pedestrian ramp. Within the site, there are a 
number of courtyards and smaller associated buildings. The building described in the 
application as the former stable block is substantial in size, constructed of red random 
stone, with a corrugated sheet roof. Openings are limited to the stable door. 

Adjacent to the building is an access ramp that provides vehicular access to the site and 
a small number of neighbours. The surrounding area is predominantly residential in 
nature, formed by a tight grain of Georgian terraced housing, reliant on on-street parking. 
The site is accessed from Eaglesfield Street, albeit the stable building partly bounds 
William Street, with no existing through route. 

Relevant Planning History

None

Page 17



Representations

The application has been called in to Development Panel by Councillor P Kendall

Maryport Town Council

Maryport TC raise the following concerns:

1) The impact of over-development.
2) The security currently provided by an existing wall, due for demolition, & the height of 
the proposed development impacting on amenity & light.
3) The short distance, cited as 6.7 metres, between the proposed terraced properties & 
existing properties opposite impacting on privacy.
4) Lack of parking availability & failure of plans to address issue.
5) Location of the entrance to the property & retention of Georgian style features.
6) Possible excessive development on the site.
7) Need for affordable housing.
8) The former Police Station & Courthouse should be developed but Allerdale Borough 
Council, as planning authority, needed to give careful consideration to what it agreed to.

ABC Environmental Health
 
No objection subject to a condition to secure a Construction Management Plan. 

CC Highways/LLFA

First response – No objection. Highlights the need for clarification on which areas of the 
site are to be public or private and that conditions will need to be applied for their 
standard of construction. Specifies need for former police bays on Eaglesfield Street to 
be converted to standard street parking through a Grampian condition or s106 
agreement. Notes that the off-street parking provision identified is not 
achievable/practical. 

Second Response – No objection. Re-iterates comments regarding removal of 
designated police bays. Notes that parking requirements will need to be met on street 
and, whilst this will be alleviated to some extent by the re-deisgnated police bays, this will 
add to the pressure on a limited resource, impacting on existing residents. Recommend a 
condition to ensure a Construction Traffic management Plan. 

Fire Officer

No comments received. 

County Archaeologist

Notes that there has been a police station on this site since the mid-19th century, and the 
earliest elements of the existing buildings date from this period. The police station was 
subsequently altered and extended at the end of the 19th century. The buildings have 
architectural merit, being described in the design and access statement as Victorian 

Page 18



Gothic style, and they positively contribute to the Maryport Conservation Area. They are 
also of local historic interest by virtue of their former use as a police station and 
magistrate’s court. The former stable/garage that is proposed for demolition is also of 
local historic significance as its origins lie in the early 19th century, perhaps as part of a 
butchers’ market that once stood on the site, and was subsequently used as a volunteer 
artillery barracks in the later 19th century. It is utilitarian in form and so of lower 
architectural interest. 

While any sympathetic scheme that secures the long-term survival of the architectural 
significance of the police station is to be supported, the proposed conversions and 
alterations will inevitably impact on the historic fabric of its interior. The proposal also 
includes the demolition of the former garage. The County Archaeologist therefore 
recommend that, in the event planning consent is granted, the buildings are recorded 
prior to alteration and demolition through appropriate conditions. A second response 
raises no further issues. 

Natural England

No comments to make, refer to Standing Advice. A second response raises no further 
issues. 

Cumbria Wildlife

No comments received. 

United Utilities

No objection, request conditions for details of foul and surface water drainage, including 
maintenance. 

Cumbria Butterfly Trust

No comments received.

Cumbria Constabulary

1st Response
Notes that the creation of a through-route could be potentially problematic although 
reports of anti-social behaviour are not high in this locality. Suggests that further details 
be provided for the doors/windows etc to reduce the potential for crime. 

2nd Response
Welcomes the removal of the pedestrian through route. 

ABC Housing Services

Set out the need for affordable housing in Maryport in terms of unit size and % of the 
development. A second response raises no additional comments. 

Page 19



ABC Conservation Officer

Welcome the re-use of this building for the benefit of the conservation area as it would 
conserve the main building which, despite being of a style which is not characteristic of 
Maryport, contributes positively to its appearance and character as it is a distinctive piece 
of arts and crafts influenced architecture of its time and is of high quality materials and 
detailing.

Detailed comments have been provided relating to the new build elements of the scheme 
and revised plans have been provided in response to this. The latest revisions are 
considered to be more acceptable, taking into account the limited visibility of the new 
build elements within the Conservation Area.  

Residents/other representations

The application has been advertised by letter, site notice and press advert. 

17 letters of objection have been received to date and two letters expressing neither 
objection nor support (as of 2nd August 2018). The points raised are summarised as 
follows:

 One resident seeks assurances that no windows are proposed within the side 
elevation of the existing building that would result in overlooking to existing 
windows in 6 Eaglesfield Street. 

 The number of off street parking spaces is not sufficient for the number of 
dwellings proposed. Parking is already limited in this locality.

 The existing access off Eaglesfield Street is substandard and it would adversely 
impact on the amenity of residents at 16 and 18 Eaglesfield Street. 

 Poor standard of residential amenity for existing and proposed residents.
 Proposed dormer is onto a conservation area and will overlook 59 Eaglesfield 

Street. 
 Do not want a through route from William Street onto Eaglesfield Street due to 

parking issues and anti-social behaviour. 
 Building work will be disruptive. 
 Overdevelopment. 
 William Street is too small to accommodate three new houses. 
 Parking congestion makes access for emergency vehicles difficult on William 

Street. Also increases risk of collisions given lack of turning facilities.  
 William Street residents are overlooked by previous development and this 

situation would be made worse. 
 Where will bins be stored, children play, washing hung out? No external space. 
 Overlooking to William Street and a loss of light. Very short separation distances. 

Obscure glass would not prevent overlooking when sliding sash windows are 
open. 

 Noise and disturbance from new residents on quiet amenity currently enjoyed. 
 Risk of damage to nearby properties during the demolition phase. 
 Two parking spaces off William Street shown on the 11th July drawings will not be 

accessible due to cars parked on William Street. 
 Design of the two houses are not in keeping with the area and will look alien. 

Page 20



 Request that dimensions on the plan are checked.
 Height to eaves is higher than the previous building. 
 What will the open space off William Street now be used for. Suggest the existing 

stone wall be capped and this area be used as a secure private area by the new 
houses. 

 House number 1 will be overbearing and oppressive. Adversely impact on light to 
residents of William Street. 

Duties

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.  

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of a designated Conservation Area.    

Relevant Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014) 

Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM15 - Extensions and alterations to existing buildings and properties
Policy DM16 - Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S27 - Heritage Assets
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S6b - Maryport
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S8 - Affordable Housing  

Page 21



Other Material Considerations

Draft Allerdale Borough Council Local Plan (Part 2) 

Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 2018

Allerdale Council Plan – Objectives

 Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of new homes where 
they are needed.

 Enhancing our Towns – Making our towns attractive and welcoming

Maryport Plan 2018

Policy Weighting

Notwithstanding the duty under sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Area) Act, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in 
accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means 
that the Allerdale Local Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough 
Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of the 
revised NPPF (2018) advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with this framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

The Allerdale Local Plan (part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF.  The majority of policies are considered to remain compliant. However, 
having regard to a further material consideration – the appeal decision for land at Little 
Broughton (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948), it is considered that policies S3 and S5 
of the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 can no longer carry full weight, 
primarily insofar as they relate to the application of the existing settlement limits which 
date from the 1999 Plan.  The provisions of paragraph 11 of the NPPF 2018 are 
therefore engaged.

However, this does not mean to say that other Local Plan Part 1 policies are out of date 
and should not be afforded substantial weight where they are consistent with the 
provisions of the NPPF 2018. In this instance, it is assessed that the settlement hierarchy 
within policy S3 can be afforded substantial weight given its consistency with the 
sustainability principles of the NPPF 2018 as can the criteria a) to f) of policy S5. Other 
polices within the Part 1 Local Plan maintain their full weight, for example policies S4, S7, 
S8, S22, S27, S29 S32, S33, DM14 and DM17.

Paragraph 48 of the revised NPPF advises that weight can be afforded to emerging 

Page 22



plans, that weight dependent on the stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved 
objections and consistency with the provisions of the Framework. In this instance Part 2 
of the Local Plan is at an early stage of preparation and is afforded very little weight in 
the assessment.

Assessment

Principle

Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (adopted July 2014) (ALP) sets out the 
framework for development across the area. In order to achieve sustainable growth it 
seeks to direct the majority of new growth to Workington, as the principal centre, together 
with other key and local service centres. Beyond this a limited amount of growth is 
expected to take place in a number of identified villages. Policy S5 sets out the 
development principles for proposals within settlements in the hierarchy.

Maryport is defined within the settlement hierarchy as a Key Service Centre and it is 
anticipated that Key Service Centres will see large scale housing growth. Within the 
current Plan period, Maryport has seen only a limited number of housing applications 
despite its designation as a Key Service Centre. As such, whilst only a small scale 
proposal, the scheme would make a positive contribution to providing new housing within 
the town. The proposal would see the part re-use/part re-development of an existing 
vacant premises and the scale of the proposal (10 dwellings) is considered to be 
commensurate to the size and role of the town as a Key Service Centre. The site is 
surrounded by existing housing and therefore additional housing on this site would be a 
compatible use. As such, the principle of new housing is considered to be acceptable 
having regard to Policy S3, S30 and DM16 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1). It is also a 
benefit that needs to be afforded significant weight in the overall balance. 

Heritage Assets

The proposal site falls within the Maryport Conservation Area and backs onto the rear 
boundary of 24 and 24a Fleming Square which are Grade II listed buildings. 23 Fleming 
square is also listed, but does not directly adjoin the site. These listed buildings date from 
the late Georgian period and the listings predominantly reference the main architectural 
features of the frontage. In combination, 23, 24 and 24a Fleming Square form a 
significant part of the built form that presents onto Fleming Square, which is a 
magnificent stone cobbled square, surrounded by predominantly Georgian and some 
Victorian buildings. 24 and 24a Fleming Square retain a centre rusticated carriage entry, 
which leads onto an open rear courtyard, now a grassed area used as a private garden. 
This area is enclosed by high stone walling to the sides, with the former stables of the 
police station forming the rear boundary at a lower height. 

There is no approved Conservation Area Appraisal for Maryport. However, the 
Conservation Area is focused around the main thoroughfares of Curzon Street and 
Senhouse Street, extending up to Fleming Square, as well as extending out to the 
Roman fort and museum, across the harbour and to Netherhall.  Much of the town centre 
is of Georgian style, set out formally and of a tight grain, defining the character and 
appearance and the significance of this part of the Conservation Area as a heritage 

Page 23



asset. 

The former police station building, albeit not listed, has aesthetic value, arising from the 
architectural style and detailing of the building and the quality of its materials, as well as 
the historic value arising from the historic community use as a police station and 
magistrates’ court. As such, the building itself has significant value individually and it is 
considered to make a positive contribution to the Maryport Conservation Area as a high 
quality building, albeit Victorian as opposed to the predominant Georgian style.

The proposed conversion will provide a new use for this currently vacant premises, that it 
compatible with the locality. It will require minimal external alterations to the main 
building, thereby preserving the architectural qualities of the building itself and the 
positive contribution it makes to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
The proposed dormer to the frontage will be the most notable alteration, however, the 
design of the dormer is considered to be of a good quality, in keeping with the building 
overall. The proposed rear extension would be in keeping with the scale and appearance 
of the existing building and would have limited impact on the wider Conservation Area, 
given its position to the rear.

The brick built garage with corrugated shallow pitched roof adds little to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area and its demolition does not raise any significant 
concerns. 

Demolition of the stable building will result in some physical loss of this heritage asset 
and it will have some impacts on the setting of the adjacent listed buildings at 24 and 24a 
Fleming Square, given that it forms part of their boundary/curtilage wall. The County 
Archaeologist considers that the origins of this building lies in the early 19th century, 
perhaps as part of a butchers’ market that once stood on the site, and was subsequently 
used as a volunteer artillery barracks in the later 19th century. Local knowledge indicates 
the building was part of a former coal yard accessed from Fleming Square. It is utilitarian 
in form and so of lower architectural interest and given its location to the rear of the site, 
makes less contribution to the character of the Conservation Area than the main building. 
Whilst it will result in some harm to the setting of the adjacent listed buildings, through the 
physical loss of the existing rear boundary, the sense of enclosure to the rear courtyard 
would be retained by the replacement building. Its loss would also reduce the legibility of 
the history of the building with consequent harm. However, this is minor in the overall 
balance of realising a reuse of the building. Whilst the plans suggest that the replacement 
building would be rendered to the elevation with Fleming Square properties, it would 
seem more appropriate to the setting of the listed buildings that the stone finish be 
retained, given that all the high walls to this rear courtyard are of stone construction. This 
aspect could be secured by condition, should members be minded to support the 
application.  

As such, whilst the proposal will result in some harm to the significance of the building 
itself, to the setting of the adjacent listed buildings and to the wider conservation area, 
this harm is not considered to be substantial. Nevertheless, the NPPF requires that any 
harm should be justified and weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

If planning permission is granted and the development completed, the conversion and 

Page 24



new build development would secure a re-use for this vacant heritage asset. It is 
understood that the police station closed in 2012 and, given the location of the building in 
a residential area, alternative uses for the building are likely to be limited. The benefits of 
securing a further use for this building and the added benefit of providing additional 
housing within this key service centre are considered to outweigh the identified and less 
than substantial harm arising from partial demolition. 

The design of the proposed bungalow is considered to be acceptable in relation to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. The bungalow will utilise reclaimed 
stone, which is appropriate given that the existing walls within this area are stone. The 
bungalow’s fenestration and materials are considered to be sympathetic to the traditional 
design and materials of surrounding buildings. 

The design of the proposed houses has been subject to a number of amendments in 
order to secure a reduction in the massing.   Materials would remain traditional – timber 
windows, render walls and slate roof. The dormers would be finished in a grey terne 
coated steel. The overall design retains the symmetry of the Georgian style, with vertical 
windows and banding. However, the design also includes an overhang at first floor with 
the ground floor set back and pillar supports, which is somewhat unusual. The architect 
has stated that having regard to Fleming Square, the design references the projecting 
bays, pilasters and pillared entrances which feature in a number of permutations. Overall, 
the design is considered an appropriate and modern approach to the location, which will 
not be particularly prominent within the wider area.  

As such, and having regard to the requirements of s66 and s72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy S27 of the ALP Part 1, it is 
considered that the proposed external alterations to the building would preserve the 
setting of nearby listed buildings and the character and appearance of the main building 
itself and the wider Conservation Area.  Any harm arising from the demolition of the 
noted outbuildings is considered to be outweighed by the public benefits of preserving 
and securing a use for the main building as well as providing additional housing for the 
town. 

Sustainability, Access and Parking

Policies S2 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1) seek to ensure that new development is located 
in areas that help to reduce journey times, have safe and convenient access to public 
transport, improve travel choice and reduce the need to travel by private motor vehicles. 
These policies accord with Paragraph 32 of the NPPF which seek to ensure sustainable 
transport modes are maximised and development is safe and accessible. Policy S5 
requires that new development includes acceptable arrangements for car parking and 
access. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states, ‘Development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe’. 

The Institution of Highways and Transportation (IHT) document 'Providing for Journeys 
on Foot’ (2000) considers acceptable walking distances for planning and evaluation 
purposes as 800m as the preferred maximum. The site lies approx. 260m from the main 
thoroughfares of Senhouse Street and Curzon Street and 700m from Maryport Railway 
Station. As such, the site is considered to be highly sustainable on the basis that the 

Page 25



services and facilities of this Key Service Centre, including regular bus services and 
regular rail services to Workington and Carlisle are all within 800m of the site. 

The surrounding highway network provides adequate paved and lit facilities for 
pedestrians connecting to the town centre and public transport. National Cycle Route 72 
(Cumbrian Coastal route and Hadrian’s Cycleway) all pass through the town and are 
accessible from the site. On this basis, the proposal is considered to be accessible by a 
range of options other than the private car, and sustainable, in accordance with policies 
S2 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1). 

With regards to any residual need for parking, the plans have been amended to remove 
reference to off street parking (either from Eaglesfield Street or William Street) on the 
basis that the Highways Authority advised that the turning and manoeuvring for these 
spaces would not be achievable. As such, the proposal would be reliant on on-street 
parking. The application would allow for existing bays designated for police parking on 
Eaglesfield Street to be replaced with public on street parking spaces (approximately four 
to five). This could be secured by condition if Members are minded to support the 
application.  This would allow for some additional parking provision within the locality that 
would be open to all and not restricted to future residents of the proposal.  

In relation to the parking provision, the Highways Authority has not raised any objection, 
but note that the proposal will potentially add to the demand for on street parking, which 
will have the potential to adversely impact on local residents.  However, the County 
Council’s parking standards are a maximum provision, not a minimum. The proposal will 
be reliant on on-street parking (albeit allowing the existing police bays to be released for 
public use) and the concerns of residents are noted in terms of the congestion of local 
streets. However, this site is located within a highly sustainable location, within walking 
distance of most amenities and services and with good access to public transport. As a 
sustainable development, it is not considered that a refusal due to a lack of parking 
provision could be substantiated. It is not considered that the proposal would have an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, and the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would not be severe.  As such, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in 
relation to policies S2, S5 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1).

Residential Amenity

Policy S32 of the ALP (Part 1) seeks to ensure that new development does not have a 
significant adverse impact on the amenity of existing residents. 

Representations received from the occupier of no. 6 Eaglesfield Street refer to the 
potential for new window openings to the west facing elevation to result in overlooking 
from the main building. However, the submitted plans do not show any openings within 
this elevation. Having considered the proposal from a range of locations along 
Eaglesfield Street, and Fleming Square, the alterations proposed to the main building 
(including dormer window to front and two storey extension to rear), would not impact 
adversely on the residential amenity of neighbours. 

The proposed new bungalow to the rear of the building would have its main orientation 
towards the existing access ramp. Windows would not directly overlook the rear of 16/18 
Eaglesfield Street, as the bungalow would be orientated 90 degrees. Future residents 

Page 26



accessing and egressing this unit (and House 1 and 2) on foot would potentially have 
some views into the rear yards and windows of these neighbouring residents, but this is 
unlikely to be any significantly different from personnel using the police station when it 
remained in use. 

The proposed new build houses would be positioned to the rear of 16/18 Eaglesfield 
Street, to the rear of two properties on Fleming Square and partly opposite the end 
terraces on William Street. 

16 Eaglesfield Street lies approx.14.8m from the proposed side wall of House 2 and sits 
at a lower ground level. The existing gable of the former stable measures approx. 4.2m to 
eaves and 6.1m to ridge height.  Proposed House 2 would be 4.5m to eaves height and 
6.2m to ridge height. Two small windows are proposed within this side elevation, serving 
a bathroom at first floor level and a second habitable window at ground floor level. Given 
the proposed scale is of similar dimensions to the existing building, it is not considered 
that the outlook from 16/18 Eaglesfield Street would be adversely affected to any 
significant degree. The separation distance is considered adequate to prevent any 
significant level of overooking from the small side windows proposed.  

The proposed western elevation of the two new houses would back onto the shared 
garden area of 24 and 24a Fleming Square. These properties presently share a large 
rear garden. The proposed housing would be higher, particularly to eaves height than the 
existing building on the shared boundary, but the adjoining garden would extend for at 
least 25m with a range of rear projections intervening between the proposal and the main 
rear elevation of these properties. As such, it is considered that the proposal would not 
have an overbearing impact on the residential amenity of the occupiers of these 
properties. 

The existing stables building presently sits partly within William Street and fronts both 3 
and 4 William Street. The footprint of the proposed two houses would be smaller than the 
stables building, removing the section to the front of no. 3 William Street, but retaining a 
section to the front of no.4 William Street (projecting from the existing wall that forms the 
end of William Street by 2.0m). The existing stable building is indicated as extending to 
3.3m in height to eaves and just under 6.0 in height to ridge at this point.  The proposed 
House 1 would retain the ridge height of the existing building, with a height to parapet of 
4.5m and height to dormer of 5.1m. At ground floor level, the building would be set back 
approx. 1.0 from the existing building line, with the first floor projecting to the extent of the 
existing stable block. The plans indicate that a ground and first floor window would be 
proposed facing onto no. 4 William Street and the separation distance would be only 
7.0m. Both the ground floor window and first floor window would be obscure glazed. 
 
The proposal is considered to improve the outlook for the residents of 3 William Street 
because the built form of the proposal will not extend across the frontage of this property, 
whereas the existing stable block takes up a significant part of the outlook. For residents 
of 4 William Street, there will be a reduction in the extent to which the built form will 
extend across the frontage – the proposal will extend for 2.0m across the frontage as 
opposed to the existing building which extends across the full frontage. However, the 
massing of the building for this section will be greater than exists at present resulting 
from the inclusion of the dormers and parapet, which extend above the existing eaves 
height of the stables building; by 1.2m and 1.8m respectively. Whilst it is accepted that 

Page 27



the massing will increase, this will be for a shorter length of building and overall, the 
impact on the outlook from no. 4 William Street is unlikely to be affected to any 
significantly greater degree than is presently the case.   

The plans indicate that the ground and first floor windows facing onto no. 4 William Street 
would be obscure glazed. Whilst these are habitable rooms, they would not be the only 
windows serving these rooms and therefore the obscuration is considered to be 
acceptable. As the windows are proposed to be sliding sash, it would be necessary to 
condition that the windows are fixed so an unacceptable level of overlooking would not 
arise when the windows were open. As there are other windows proposed to these 
rooms that could serve as a means of escape for Building Regulations purposes, the 
fixing of these windows is considered to be achievable. This would need to be controlled 
by condition, should members be minded to support the application. 

To conclude, the proposal is considered to retain the residential amenity of neighbouring 
properties to an acceptable level in accordance with Policy S32 of the ALP (Part 1). 
Whilst it is accepted that the form of the new build will result in a change in the outlook 
from 4 William Street in particular, the outlook from this property is already impinged to a 
large degree by the presence of the stable building. Whilst the eaves height will increase, 
the footprint will reduce, thereby altering the outlook from this property but not resulting in 
a significant adverse impact over and above that which exists at present. 

Standard of Housing Environment

Policy S4 requires that new developments function well, ensuring suitable standards of 
access and amenity and Policy DM14 supports this. The conversion of the main building 
will see a number of flats arranged around existing courtyards. Some, but not all flats will 
have access to the courtyards. The proposed bungalow would not have any external 
space, but the two proposed houses would have a shared amenity space opposite the 
houses and additional open area and storage units to the side, off William Street. 

Subject to the inclusion of some obscure glazing to windows facing onto the internal 
courtyards, it is considered that the conversion and new build units would have an 
acceptable standard of housing environment in accordance with Policies S4 and DM14 of 
the ALP (Part 1).
 
Mix of Housing

Policy S7 of the ALP (Part 1) seeks to achieve an appropriate mix of housing and Policy 
S8 seeks to achieve a percentage of affordable units, where a certain threshold is 
exceeded. The internal layout of the existing building has determined the size and 
number of flats proposed, largely because of the physical structure of the building. The 
new build units are restricted in scale due to attempts to replicate the scale of existing 
buildings. The mix of units is generally considered to be acceptable. 

Whilst the response from Housing Services references the need for affordable housing 
provision, this was on the basis of the original scheme, which sought permission for 11 
units in total. In order to address concerns relating to the impact of the proposal on 
residents on William Street, a unit has been removed from the scheme.  As a result, the 
proposal now totals ten units. 

Page 28



Whilst Policy S8 of the ALP (Part 1) requires a provision for affordable housing on 
development of 10 units or more, the application has been processed to date on the 
basis of subsequent government policy set out within its Written Ministerial Statement 
dated November 2014, which prior to the revised NPPF, was a material consideration 
and specified that affordable housing provision should not be sought from developments 
of 10 units or less. As such, the provision of affordable housing was not considered 
necessary. 

However, at a late stage in the processing of the application, the revised NPPF has been 
published. This states that affordable housing contributions should only be sought on 
major development and ‘major development’ is defined as 10 units or more. As such, the 
revised application would now fall within this definition. The revised NPPF suggests that 
a minimum of 10% of units should be secured for affordable home ownership. However, 
to support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being reused or 
redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should be reduced by a 
proportionate amount – and the definition of this is stated as, ‘Equivalent to the existing 
gross floorspace of the existing buildings’.  

A 10% provision would equate to only one unit and taking into account the allowance 
made for re-use of vacant buildings, it is not considered necessary to seek an affordable 
housing contribution in this instance. 

Ecology

Policy S35 of the ALP (Part 1) seeks to protect and enhance ecological interest. The 
proposal site is previously developed land with limited open space. Any ecological 
interest is likely to be limited to the potential use by bats, given that the existing buildings 
largely pre-date 1914 (with the exception of the garage). The majority of buildings are to 
be retained, with limited external alterations. However, the proposal includes the 
conversion of the existing building, which would utilise the roofspace of parts of the 
building and the demolition of the former stable block which is an older building. As such, 
the development has the potential to impact on bats, which are a protected species. 

The applicant has provided an Ecological Statement which considers bats in relation to 
the demolition of the stables building, and concludes that, due to very high levels of 
natural light within this building (photographs provided), it is considered unlikely to be a 
suitable habitat for bats. The photos show high levels of natural light within the building, 
with no roof void. Sheeting provides the roof material, rather than slate. Artificial street 
light would penetrate the rooflights. On the basis of the information available, it is 
considered unlikely that bats would be using this building. However, an advisory note is 
considered necessary to ensure that caution is taking during the demolition process and 
advising of the need for a licence from Natural England should bats be found to be 
present. 

No information has been provided within the Ecological Statement as to the extent to 
which the main building may be used by bats (the conversion works include some works 
to the roof). However, whilst vacant, the building has been maintained to a good 
standard, including the slate roof and stonework. The roof voids are likely to be relatively 
small due to the shallow pitch of the roof and the site is within a relatively dense urban 

Page 29



area, with woodland at a distance exceeding 200m. Whilst there is some potential for use 
by bats, this is considered to be relatively low. As such, it is considered that the 
aforementioned advisory note should be sufficient in this case to minimise any risk to this 
protected species.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act, the proposal if 
approved, would attract New Homes Bonus and Council Tax Revenue. 

Conclusion

Residential use of the existing buildings and the proposed new housing would be 
compatible with the locality and would secure the re-use of this heritage asset. The 
development of new housing and the enhancement of the town by bringing a vacant 
building back into use, would also make a positive contribution to the objectives of the 
Council Plan and the Maryport Regeneration Project, particularly that relating to ‘Historic 
Mayport’ as it would secure an alternative use for this heritage asset of local importance, 
thereby reducing the likelihood that the building will remain vacant. There are substantial 
benefits to the scheme in terms of housing supply and brining a building back into use 
and less than substantial harm to the significance of heritage assets. Subject to the 
recommended conditions, the proposal is considered to be sustainable development that 
accords with the relevant policies of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

Page 30



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

1. Before any development commences details of the landscaping of the 
site(hereinafter called 'reserved matters') shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following plans:
Amended Dwg PL-01-100-B Proposed Ground Floor Plan 19-7-18
Amended Dwg PL-02-100-B Proposed First Floor Plan 19-7-18
Amended Dwg PL-03-100-B Proposed Roof Plan 19-7-18
Amended Dwg PL-04-100-B Proposed South Elevation 19-7-18
Amended Dwg PL-05-100-B Proposed East Elevation 19-7-18
Amended Dwg PL-06-100-B Proposed East Elevation Detail 19-7-18
EX-01-100-Site Plan
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

3. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later 
than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission and 
the development shall begin no later  than whichever is the later of the 
following dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, 
or 
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved 
matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the 
last such matter to be approved.
Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

4. No development shall take place until a Construction and Demolition Method 
Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following:
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking, turning and 
compound areas;
(b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage 
from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. 
All measurements should make reference to BS7445.
(c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and 
light pollution.
(d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 

Page 31



construction or demolition;

(e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);
(f) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
(g) Hours of working and deliveries;
(h) Details of lighting to be used on site.
(i)      Highway signage / Haulage routes 
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development.
Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development hereby 
approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety.

5. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed above 
ground floor level until details and representative samples of all external and 
roofing materials have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be constructed in accordance with the 
approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of the 
surrounding area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

6. Before any part of the development hereby approved is constructed above 
ground floor level, a plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
indicating details of all external windows, dormer windows and doors, 
including cross sections of glazing bars, to a scale of not less than 1:20. The 
works shall be implemented solely in accordance with the approved window 
and door details.
Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the building / structure is 
acceptable, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

7. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, details of the siting, height and type of 
all means of enclosure (including boundary treatment and bin store) shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
occupation of any dwelling(s). Any such means of enclosure shall be 
constructed as approved prior to the development  being brought into use. All 
means of enclosure so constructed shall be retained and no part thereof shall 
be removed without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with 
the character of the surrounding area and safeguard the amenity of neighbouring 
properties.

8. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the subsequently approved 
landscaping scheme (reserved matter) shall be carried out in the first planting 
season following completion of the development and any trees or plants 

Page 32



which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, 
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with other similar size and species, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality.

9. Prior to the carrying out of any construction works the existing buildings 
affected by the proposed development shall be recorded in accordance with a 
Level 2 survey as described in English Heritage's document 'Understanding 
Historic Buildings A Guide to Good Recording Practice, 2016'. Within two 
months of the commencement of construction works three copies of the 
resultant Level 2 survey report shall be furnished to the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason:  To ensure that a permanent record is made of the existing buildings of 
architectural and historic interest prior to their alteration as part of the proposed 
development in accordance with Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
2014.

10. The demolition works hereby approved shall not be implemented until a 
contract has been granted for the delivery of the redevelopment of the site 
under this planning consent.
Reason: To ensure the delivery of the development preserves and enhances the 
existing environment of the site and its character and setting within the Conservation 
Area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S4 
and S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

11. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the 
designated police parking bays to Eaglesfield Street have been removed and 
replaced with public on street parking spaces.
Reason: To ensure the removal of a redundant parking restrictions arising from the 
change of use hereby approved and the provision of additional public parking on 
street.

12. Notwithstanding the plans approved under condition 2, the rear wall of Houses 
1 and 2 hereby approved shall be constructed in stone and not render. No part 
of Houses 1 and 2 shall be constructed above ground floor level until a 1m 
square free-standing panel of the facing stonework to be used in the rear wall 
of these two houses has been constructed on the site and the materials 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The panel shall be retained on site 
until such times as the development is completed. The development shall 
thereafter be solely implemented in accordance with the approved sample 
materials.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the setting of the 
adjacent listed buildings, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

13. The development shall not be brought into use until the details and extent of 
the obscure glazing to be used within the flats and houses as shown on the 

Page 33



approved plans hereby approved have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority and the obscure glazing has been installed as 
approved. The obscure glazing shall thereafter be retained as approved, and 
shall not be removed or replaced without the prior written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development for future 
occupiers and to protect the residential amenity of existing neighbours, in 
accordance with policies S4, S32 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
2014.

14. The obscure glazed windows to the front elevation of House 1 hereby 
approved, shall be fixed and non-opening.
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of neighbouring residents, in accordance 
with policy S32 of the Alledale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

Application Approved Following Revisions

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by, primarily identifying relevant development plan policies, any 
duties applicable as well as other material considerations that have been afforded 
weight, including emerging Local Plan policy, stakeholder representations and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  In this context, having identified 
matters of concern with the application as originally submitted and, if applicable, 
following negotiations with the applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions 
to the proposal have been received.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has 
been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal.

Notes to Applicant  

BATS
All British bats and their roosts are protected by law under the provisions of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and they should therefore always 
be taken into account when any work is being done on buildings which are known to 
be used by bats or have potential as bat roosts.  Should bats be found on site you 
are advised to cease works and contact Natural England for further advice.

LISTED BUILDING CONSENT
The Local Planning Authority advises that the site lies adjacent to 23, 24 and 24a 
Fleming Square, which are listed buildings. Any works affecting any structures that 
may be curtilage listed may require Listed Building Consent from the Local Planning 
Authority. Any unauthorised works to a listed building constitutes a criminal offence. 
It is therefore essential that prior to the demolition of the former stable building, it is 
clarified with the Local Planning Authority as to whether this will impact on these 
neighbouring buildings and trigger the need for Listed Building Consent.  

Page 34



ASBESTOS
Local representations indicate that the former stables building due for demolition 
may contain asbestos. Asbestos can be classed as a hazardous waste and is 
subject to specific regulations for its disposal. Further advice can be sought from the 
Health and Safety Executive website. 

Page 35



P
age 36



P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 38



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0275

Proposed 
Development:

Outline planning permission for the erection of a dwelling with all 
matters reserved

Location: Land at
Borriskill
Ellenborough
Maryport

Applicant: Mr M Scott

Recommendation: REFUSE

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle The application site is located in the open countryside outside the 
defined settlement limit. The proposed dwelling represents an 
inappropriate form of development in the open countryside 
contrary to the provisions of Policy S3 and S33 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1).

Access The site is served off a private lane which is part restricted in width 
and has little in the way of suitable construction. The access lane 
would also require capping to mitigate against previous coal 
mining activities.

Drainage It is considered that drainage details can be adequately controlled 
by condition.

Character and 
appearance

 It is considered the proposed development will not adversely 
affect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby residential 
properties but 

Tilted Balance The adverse impacts of permitting the development in this poorly 
accessible unsustainable countryside location with significant harm 
to the landscape and visual amenity would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefit of providing just one dwelling, 
when assessed against the policies in the Local Plan 2014 and the 
NPPF 2018 taken as a whole. 

Proposal 

The application seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved on land south 
east of 1 & 2 Borriskill, Maryport, CA7 4RF.

The Application is made following the refusal of a previous planning application planning 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



reference 2/2015/0012 which was refused by Allerdale Borough Council on 15 April 
2015.

The Application is made by the applicant who considers that has been significant rulings 
in planning case law since the 2015 Application was refused which merit a fresh 
assessment of the principle of a dwelling at the Site.

The relevant case law includes the following rulings:

 In CO/4129/2015 (Dartford Borough Council v Secretary of State for Communities 
& Local Government) it was held that residential gardens outside built up areas 
i.e. in rural areas is ‘brownfield land’ or ‘previously developed land’ for planning 
purposes.

  In C1/2017/3292 (Braintree District Council v Secretary of State for Communities 
and Local Government Greyread Ltd. Granville Developments) it was held that 
the term isolated connotes a dwelling that is physically separate or remote from a 
settlement and one that is unconnected with anything else; solitary.

Site

The application site is located to the east of Maryport beyond the defined settlement limit. 
The site has previously been used for an agricultural field and is located between the 
lane and two existing houses. There is an agricultural building on the opposite side of the 
road. The current application sets out that the site has been used as residential garden 
ground for a number of years and is considered to be within the curtilage of 2 Borriskill 
i.e. an existing permanent structure. 

Access is via an unmade track and bridleway from the A594 circa 160m to the edge of 
the settlement boundary. The site slopes gently from northwest to southeast. To the north 
and east of the site is further garden land associated with 1 & 2 Borriskill. To the south of 
the site is an access lane and then agricultural land and to the west of the Site is an 
access lane. The site is bounded in all directions by a mixture of hedging, established 
trees and fencing. 

The site is in Flood Zone 1 and is not at risk of flooding. There are no listed buildings, 
conservation areas or scheduled monuments near to the Site.

Representations

Councillor P Kendall call in – It will fit in with settlement due to the settlement line going in 
so many directions in this settlement area.

Maryport Town Council 

No objections

Page 40



Cumbria County Council (Highways) 

I can confirm that the responses made to the previous application (2/2015/0012) should 
still apply. This site is served off a private lane which is, in part, restricted in width and 
has little in the way of suitable construction.

As this lane currently serves more than ten dwellings it will make its use increasingly 
congested as more dwellings are added and our recommendations for development in 
this area has been outlined in our current response to the site allocation consultation, a 
point your authority will need to consider when determining this application.

Should your authority be minded to approve this application then your Authority may wish 
to ensure that any driveway/parking area is suitably designed, drained and surfaced and 
that any gates open inwards only. The applicant will need to ensure that public right of 
way BW226015 remains open and unobstructed at all times.

Cumbria County Public Right of Way Officer 

Access to the proposed development site will be along public Bridleway 244061 and 
226015, the Bridleway must not be altered or obstructed before or after the development 
has been completed. The owner will also need to ensure they have a private vehicular 
right to access the property with vehicles.

ABC Environmental Health 

No objections in principle, however as the site is within 250m of known ground fill that an 
infill ground advisory note is put forward.  Arrangements for foul drainage require 
clarification.

Coal Authority 

No objection.

I have reviewed the proposals and confirm that the application site falls within the defined 
Development High Risk Area; therefore within the application site and surrounding area 
there are coal mining features and hazards which need to be considered in relation to the 
determination of this planning application. The Coal Authority records indicate that there 
is a coal outcrop running through the site which may have been subject to historic 
unrecorded coal workings at shallow depth. The planning application is supported by a 
Coal Mining Risk Assessment, dated 7 June 2018 and prepared by GRM Development 
Solutions Ltd. This report has been informed by an appropriate range of sources of 
information. Having reviewed the available coal mining and geological information the 
author of the Coal Mining Risk Assessment is able to conclude that risks posed to the 
development from potential unrecorded coal workings at shallow depth are low to 
negligible. The report author does however recommend that the south western section of 
the access road should have a capping layer reinforced with geogrid. On the basis of the 
information submitted, and the professional opinion of the report author set out therein, 
the Coal Authority has no objection to the planning application subject to the 
recommendations within the report being implemented on site.

Page 41



Cumbria County Council – Minerals 

Application which falls within a Minerals Safeguarding Area for Brick Clay. The proposed 
development is within a residential area so mineral extraction on or close to the 
application site would therefore not be environmentally acceptable. The safeguarding 
area extends across a significant area of open land so the proposal will not prevent 
access to this mineral resource for extraction in the future. Consider that criteria 2 and 4 
of Policy DC15 (Minerals Safeguarding) in the adopted Cumbria Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan are satisfied. Cumbria County Council as minerals planning authority 
therefore does not object to this application.

United Utilities 

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system 
with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most 
sustainable way. 

The NPPG clearly outlines the hierarchy to be investigated by the developer when 
considering a surface water drainage strategy. We would ask the applicant to consider 
the following drainage options in the following order of priority:
1. into the ground (infiltration);
2. to a surface water body;
3. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system;
4. to a combined sewer.

Residents/other representations

The application has been advertised by site notice and adjoining owners have been 
notified. 2 letters of support:

 As one of the nearest neighbours to the proposed development I would like to say 
that we are in full support and have no objections whatsoever and feel it would 
have no negative impact on the area;

 Fully support the proposed developments outlined in the application.

Development plan policies 

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved settlement limits 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) – Adopted July 2014

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 - Design principles

Page 42



Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market 
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity, 
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design

Other Material Considerations

Allerdale Local Plan Part 2

National Planning Policy Framework 2018

Allerdale Borough Council Plan

Relevant decisions, appeals, court cases

 Allerdale BC - 2/2015/0012 Refused outline application 

 Allerdale BC - An outline application for the demolition of an agricultural building 
and replacement with a dwelling and stable (2/2014/0560) on the opposite side of 
the access lane was refused on the grounds that it was located outside the 
defined settlement limits. This application was dismissed at appeal for a new 
dwelling on land at Kirkborough 2/2014/0560 (approximately 40m from the Site) 
(the 2015 Appeal PINS REF APP/G0908/W/15/3005159

 Allerdale BC Appeal decision for land at Little Broughton (PINs ref 
APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which specifically addressed the weighting afforded to 
development plan policies in the context of paragraphs 215 and 14 of the former 
NPPF.

 High Court - Braintree District Council v Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government & Others [2017] the High Court judge found that “isolated” 
should be given its ordinary objective meaning of, “far away from other places, 
buildings or people, remote”. 

 Court of Appeal - Braintree DC v SSCLG, Greyread Ltd & Granville Developments 
Ltd [2018] - “…in its particular context in paragraph 55 of the NPPF, the word 
‘isolated’ in the phrase ‘isolated homes in the countryside’ simply connotes a 
dwelling that is physically separate or remote from a settlement…”

Policy weighting 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy.

Page 43



A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of the 
revised NPPF (2018) advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with this framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

The Allerdale Local Plan (part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF.  The majority of policies are considered to remain consistent. However, 
having regard to a further material consideration – the appeal decision for land at Little 
Broughton (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948), it is considered that policies S3 and S5 
of the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 are out of date and can no longer carry 
full weight insofar as they relate to the application of the existing settlement limits which 
date from the 1999 Plan and housing numbers.  The provisions of paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF 2018 are and the tilted balance are therefore engaged.

However, this does not mean to say that other Local Plan Part 1 policies are out of date 
and should not be afforded substantial or full weight where they are consistent with the 
provisions of the NPPF 2018. In this instance, it is assessed that the settlement hierarchy 
within policy S3 can be afforded substantial weight given its consistency with the 
sustainability principles of the NPPF 2018 as can the criteria a) to f) of policy S5. Other 
polices within the Part 1 Local Plan maintain their full weight.

Assessment 

Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

Local Plan policy S1 ‘Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development’ confirms that 
“the Council will take a positive approach... in favour of sustainable development” and 
that it will “secure development that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions in the area...”  It also replicates paragraph 14 of the now superseded 2012 
NPPF, now found under paragraph 11c and d. i.e. whether or not “any adverse impacts 
of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits”.

Local Plan policy S3 ‘Spatial Strategy and Growth’ considers the provision of housing 
over the plan period and sets out the settlement hierarchy. Based on Part 2 of the Local 
Plan it is noted that the Site falls outside of the proposed settlement boundary of 
Maryport – being approximately 160m north east at the nearest point. 

The 2015 outline application was refused on the grounds that policy S3 sets out a 
number of criteria that proposal outside of defined settlements will be limited to. The 
Proposal did not meet any of these criteria and therefore it was found to be contrary to 
this part of the Local Plan. However, now the NPPF 2018 sets out under section 11 that 
Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development 
and for decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

Page 44



i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF 2018 addresses that in ‘situations where the presumption (at 
paragraph 11d) applies to applications involving the provision of housing, the adverse 
impact of allowing development that conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is likely to 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, provided all of the following apply:

a) the neighbourhood plan became part of the development plan two years or less before 
the date on which the decision is made;
b) the neighbourhood plan contains policies and allocations to meet its identified housing 
requirement;
c) the local planning authority has at least a three year supply of deliverable housing sites 
(against its five year housing supply requirement, including the appropriate buffer as set 
out in paragraph 73); and
d) the local planning authority’s housing delivery was at least 45% of that required over 
the previous three years.

Given the weighting outlined in the previous section of this report, there is a policy 
context which provides the ability for development of the scale proposed here in such 
locations as proposed to be permitted if it is sustainable.

Previously developed land 

Policy S5 ‘Development Principles’ directs development in accordance with the hierarchy 
paying particular regard to scale. Part of this policy confirms that, “where available and if 
appropriate the Council will encourage and prioritise the effective reuse of previously 
used land and buildings or vacant and underused land”. 

Policy S30 ‘Reuse of Land’ states that “the Council will encourage and where appropriate 
prioritise the effective reuse of previously developed and vacant sites within the Plan 
Area”. 

These policy strands have consistency with the new NPPF which defines previously 
developed land as:-

“Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the 
developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should 
be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that is 
or was last occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has been developed 
for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill, where provision for restoration has 
been made through development management procedures; land in built-up areas such 
as residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was 
previously developed but where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface 
structure have blended into the landscape.” 

It is noted that the definition is explicit in advising that it cannot be assumed that the 
whole of the curtilage is developed land. In this context it is clear from the character, 

Page 45



appearance and use of the application site that it is beyond the garden area associated 
with the house and can be more accurately described as a paddock. This is clear from 
the officer’s site visit and satellite imagery. 

The proposal therefore does not respond to and, therefore, accrue the benefits derived 
from prioritising previously developed land in policies S5 and S30 of the adopted Local 
Plan and from the NPPF.
 
Sustainability of location

At the 2015 Appeal (APP/G0908/W/15/3005159) it is noted that the Inspector held that 
the development was contrary to policy S3 – giving the policy significant weight at the 
time. However the Inspector also held that the development was “only a short distance 
beyond the settlement boundary…. not in an entirely unsustainable location…” with “… 
the proximity to local services and to public transport routes provides considerable weight 
in favour and gains support from the sustainability objectives of the Framework”. Given 
that the 1999 settlement limits and the relevant strand are out of date and now afforded 
little weight, the balance of these considerations is different.

There are similarities with 2015 appeal site which is in close proximity to the application 
site and some weight can be afforded to the appeal as a material consideration. 
However, with closer examination of the characteristics of the access arrangements and 
distances to services and faculties, it is considered that this site is not sustainably 
located. It is within 800m of a convenience shop (on Church Terrace) and 450m from a 
bus stop served by a regular service (the Stagecoach 31 running via Ellenborough Road 
and Main Street). However, these services and all other facilities are accessible by foot 
only be traversing nearly 300m of unmade, unlit track.  Furthermore, medical and 
educational facilities are over 1km distance. In reality, the trips undertaken, especially 
during winter and times of inclement weather, are going to be made by car. Such 
substantial reliance on car borne trips is not sustainable. Journeys by car are not 
minimised. 

The Inspector, in the 2015 Appeal, also assessed the relationship of the development 
with the built environment holding that the site is “isolated”. They considered that, ‘rather 
than extend the built up area, the proposed development would actually consolidate 
existing development that lies in open countryside, clearly separate from, albeit relatively 
close to, the settlement boundary. They continued by concluding that consolidating and 
expanding this area of outlying development would result in harm to the character and 
appearance of the area. It would be in direct conflict with the requirements of the NPPF 
with regard to new isolated homes in the countryside.

The applicant has contended that, in light of recent case law (The Braintree High Court 
and Court of Appeal cases), the site is not isolated and, therefore, one of the reasons 
cited by the inspector for the 2015 appeal is not relevant. It is a fact that the Site is not 
isolated and particularly when it is set against the Oxford Concise English Dictionary 
definition of isolated i.e. “far away from other places, buildings or people; remote". 
However, it is illogical to conclude that, just because a site is not isolated, that it becomes 
sustainable in all other respects. Indeed, this report has already documented how the site 
is unsustainably located due to the unattractive nature of the route to get to services by 
foot. It is also clearly detached from the built up area of Maryport within a countryside 

Page 46



setting.

Landscape and visual impact. 
The proposal site is considered to be sporadic development in this rural locality that 
would adversely impact on the character and appearance of the area.  Policy S4 ‘Design 
Principles’ states that achieving high quality design for all development is a key objective 
of the Local Plan. Policy DM14 ‘Standards of Good Design’ sets out guidance on housing 
density, design and layout of new development and landscaping within a development. 
Policy S33 ‘Landscape’ also requires landscape character and local distinctiveness to be 
protected, conserved and where possible enhanced.

The Cumbria County Councils Landscape Character Assessment classes the application 
site’s landscape within sub type 05a-“Ridge and Valley”. 

Visually it describes its land cover and land use as ;

”The landscape is dominated by improved farmed pasture. Fields are typically regular in 
shape and are medium to large in size. Arable fields provide an occasional contrast with 
the pasture. Field patterns tend to be oblong with straight boundaries enclosed by 
hedges, hedge banks or fences. These still reflect the planned enclosure of open 
common pastures in the 19th century. The patchwork field pattern is interspersed with 
both native broadleaved and planted coniferous woodlands and some unimproved and 
features include dense high hedges, woodland, especially along narrow valleys, 
shelterbelts, remnant parkland and tree clumps. Some hedges are fragmented. Small 
areas of forestry plantation punctuate the landscape.
Scattered farm buildings are dispersed throughout the area and are often concealed by 
undulations in the land and woodlands. Villages are linear or nucleated in form, having 
developed this character largely in the later 19th and 20th centuries, and mainly sited 
along ridge tops. “

It elaborates under Perceptual character that ;

“These are medium scale landscapes generally enclosed in valleys and around 
woodlands with a more open feel along the ridge tops. Here the experience of the 
landscape can be influenced by changes in the seasons and weather and there can be a 
more elemental experience on exposed ridge tops. There are strong associations both 
with the nearby limestone fringe and coast due to the long views from the ridge tops. In 
particular there are attractive views over the Solway Firth and to the Lakeland Fells. 
Despite the concentration of large scale wind energy schemes that dominate the 
landscape around Workington, many parts remain intact and retain the sense of a 
pleasant, peaceful working farmed landscape.”

Indeed the assessment’s vision is that “This pleasant working farmed landscape will
be enhanced and restored.” 

In terms of future development it acknowledges

 “There could be a trend towards the development of urban fringe characteristics where 
the sub type abuts towns and villages. “and aims to “Improve visual awareness of the 

Page 47



individual settlement, land uses, and cultural landmarks along each road and provide 
locations for stopping, viewing and picnicking” with the need to “ensure new development 
makes a contribution to the character of the area by respecting the form of villages e.g. 
linear along ridge lines, creates new focal spaces and takes advantage of attractive long 
views.”

The application site is located in a distinctive rural fringe within an open countryside 
setting, with the local bridleway infrastructure network providing a definitive physical 
boundary to the high density built form of the urban residential estates on the eastern 
perimeter of Maryport’s settlement.

Albeit not occupying a ridgeline, the insertion and physical appearance of the applicant’s 
development would introduce a detrimental alien form within the existing sites open 
natural environment which is visible from the public Bridleway 226015, a sensitive visual 
receptor. It therefore will neither enhance nor restore the existing landscape character. 
The scheme is considered to have an adverse effect on the landscape, eroding the 
distinctive features, identity and rural character of its locality and would be an 
incongruous development in this rural locality. 

The Site is not considered to be well related to the built environment and would extend 
into the open countryside. The Site is well contained on certain boundaries by hedges 
and trees that already enclose the wider garden area to the existing Victorian dwellings, 
However due to the dwelling being to the frontage of these traditional dwellings, a new 
dwelling would be expanding this area of outlying development would result in harm to 
the character and appearance of the area.

Drainage 

Surface water will be discharged to a soakaway. Foul water would discharge to a 
package treatment plant. Policy S29 ‘Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage’ directs 
development away from areas at risk of flooding. The Site is in Flood Zone 1 and is at 
low risk of flooding. Surface water would be captured in a soakaway in accordance with 
policy S29.

Coal Mining 

The Site has been subject to a Coal Mining Risk Assessment (CMRA, GRM 07-06-2018) 
which states that there are at most negligible risks associated with developing the Site in 
response to former mining activities.

Conclusion

The delivery of a just one dwelling falls significantly short of a meaningful supply of 
housing and, in the absence of a demonstrable specific need for the development in this 
location, little benefit can be gained from its delivery. In contrast the adverse impacts of 
the development are significant and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in the Local Plan and National Planning Policy Framework taken as a 
whole. The principle of the development is considered not acceptable.  

 

Page 48



Annex 1

Refuse Reasons

1. The application site is located in a distinctive rural fringe within an open 
countryside setting, with the local bridleway infrastructure network providing a 
definitive physical boundary to the high density built form of the urban residential 
estates on the eastern perimeter of Maryport’s settlement. The development would 
introduce a detrimental alien form within the existing site’s open natural 
environment which is visible from the Public Bridleway 226015. It therefore will 
neither enhance nor restore the existing landscape character. The development is 
considered to have an adverse effect on the landscape, eroding the distinctive 
features, identity and rural character of its locality and would be an incongruous 
development in this rural locality. The site is not considered to be well related to 
the built environment and would extend into the open countryside. As such it is 
contrary to policies S1, S2, S32 and S33 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 
1 – 2014 and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

2. Public Bridleway 226015 is a sensitive visual receptor and the development is 
considered, as a result of its proximity to this receptor and alien form within the 
landscape, to be detrimental to the enjoyment and visual amenity value derived 
from this public right of way. As such the development is contrary to policies S1, 
S2, S32 adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 – 2014 and the provisions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

3. The development represents an unsustainable form of development due to the 
reliance for access via an unmade, unlit track and, as a result, there would be an 
unsustainable reliance on car-borne journeys to access services and facilities 
contrary to policies S1 and S2 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 – 2014 
and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

Page 49



P
age 50



P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 52



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application HOU/2018/0159

Proposed 
Development:

Two storey side extension to create garage and additional living 
accomodation

Location: 108
Sycamore Road
Maryport

Applicant: Mr Steven Fisher

Recommendation: Approve 

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Design The proposal is of an appropriate design for the application site 
and surrounding area.

Residential amenity The single storey element to the rear would not require planning 
permission in its own right and this is afforded weight as a material 
consideration. The two storey side extension is of similar scale and 
design to other two storey side extensions on this part of the street 
scene. 

Proposal

The application seeks permission for a two storey side extension and a single storey rear 
extension 

Site

The site compromises of a two storey semi-detached dwelling within the town of 
Maryport.
The property has a detached garage to the rear.

Relevant Planning History

2/2015/0739 – 106 Sycamore Road -  Two storey extension -  Full Plans Approved

2/2006/0358 – 104 Sycamore Road - Erection of two storey extension, as amended by 
letter and plans received 9 May 2006. – Full plans approved 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



Representations

Cumbria County Highways Authority

Highways - There is insufficient details provided for the parking arrangements. Driveway 
is replaced with the extension including undersized garage, which cannot qualify as
a car parking space. It also seems that driveway left in front of proposed garage is
not long enough to accommodate a car and space for opening a garage door.
I would request from applicant to submit further details showing minimum two onsite
parking spaces.

LLFA - The LLFA do not have any records of flooding on this site and the Environment
Agency (EA) surface water maps do not indicate that the site is in an area of risk.

Residents/other representations

Two letters of objection were received from neighbouring properties concerning the scale 
of the extension for the plot size, loss of light.

Development Plan Policies 

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

         The saved settlement limits are not relevant to this application

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 

          Policy S2 Sustainable Development Principles 
          Policy S32 Safeguarding amenity 
          Policy DM15 Extensions and alterations to existing buildings and properties 

Other material considerations

National Planning Policy Framework (Revised 2018) NPPF

Assessment

Policy

Planning policies S2, S32 and DM15 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 2014 are 
applicable to the development. These policies indicate that development will only be 
permitted where the proposal achieves a satisfactory visual and architectural relationship 
with adjoining development and that proposals should not materially harm the amenity 

Page 54



the occupants of neighbouring or adjacent properties, amongst other criteria. Policy S32 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 2014 specifies that ‘proposals will not be 
supported where they would have an unacceptable effect on residential amenity and 
surrounding land uses in terms of loss of privacy as a result of overlooking, or increased 
sense of enclosure as a result of overbearing development or a loss of sunlight/daylight 
received by the property as a result of overshadowing’. 

Design

The proposed extension would be finished with materials and proportions, to match those 
on the existing street scene. 
This design is sympathetic to the existing development on site and within the locality of 
the estate. The scale and design is also akin to existing extensions in the estate including 
106 Sycamore Road (2/2015/0739) and 104 Sycamore Road (2/2006/0358).

The design of the extension will cause an increase in the sense of enclosure in the 
neighbour’s (106 Sycamore Road) drive way, but the design of the existing development 
has already established this sense of enclosure between the two properties and 
numerous extensions on this part of the street scene have two storey side extension 
parallel to another. 

It is therefore the Officer’s opinion that the proposed extension would achieve an 
appropriate visual and architectural assimilation with the host dwelling and the 
surrounding area.  

Residential Amenity

The single storey element to the rear of the dwelling in its own right would be permitted 
development (a fact that is afforded weight as a material consideration) and it is 
considered that it would not have a detrimental impact upon residential amenity in terms 
of overbearing development or overshadowing. 
The two storey element of the proposed extension is of a similar scale to the 
neighbouring property, 106 Sycamore Road, approved under reference 2/2015/0739 and 
it is considered 110 Sycamore Road is of an acceptable distance away from the two 
storey element.

There will also be limited loss of sunlight through shadowing given the neighbouring 
property, 106 Sycamore Road, has a two storey extension of similar scale to the 
proposed extension. 

A letter of objection was received from the adjoining neighbouring property 110 
Sycamore Road in relation to the scale of the proposed extension. There were concerns 
to loss of light from the proposed two storey extension. However, it would not result in a 
significant loss of light especially given that the two storey element is set back from the 
neighbouring curtilage. 
There were also concerns relating to the replacement of boundary fence and 
replacement wall.  The wall would only require an application in its own right if it 
exceeded 2m in height as it would be classed as permitted development.

In addition the neighbouring property also raised concerns in relation to connection of a 

Page 55



manhole this would not be a material planning consideration. 

There has, in addition, been a letter of objection received by 105 Sycamore Road 
concerning the distance to the boundary and that it was over development of the land. 
However, it is considered that the proposal is of similar scale and design to other two 
storey extensions on this part of the street scene. 
Although the two storey element of the proposed extension is 3.2m closer to the 
boundary, it is considered that the property will already overlook the bungalow to the 
rear’s curtilage (105 Sycamore Road) and the overlooking would be no greater than the 
existing situation. 
However, if members had concerns on relation to overlooking, a condition could be 
added to either partially obscure glaze the window or replace the proposed window with a 
high level window.  
There were also concerns in relation to overshadowing. However, it is considered the 
proposed extension would be a sufficient distance away not to have a detrimental impact 
upon residential amenity in terms of overshadowing. 

Highways 

The County Highways Authority stated that there were insufficient details provided for the 
parking arrangements. They stated that the proposal would have an undersized garage, 
which cannot qualify as a car parking space. It also seems that the driveway left in front 
of proposed garage is not long enough to accommodate a car and space for opening a 
garage door.
However, it is considered the proposal is of a similar scheme that has been approved on 
the neighbouring property 106 Sycamore Road which was deemed acceptable. 
If members were concerned regarding the operational car parking requirements a 
condition could be added to ensure a roller shutter door be fitted to the proposed garage 
to maximise the space for car parking requirements. 

The proposal would maintain current standards of meeting the operational car parking 
requirements for the property and is considered to comply with current planning policy.

Conclusion

It is considered that the property will not have a detrimental impact upon residential or 
visual amenity given existing extensions on this row on this part of the street scene. The 
existence of similar extensions and that part of the proposal would be permitted 
development are afforded weight as material considerations.

Page 56



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance with the 
following plans:
DRG NO SF-16-7-18 - Block Plan and Location Plan 
DRG NO SF-16-7-18 - Existing and Proposed Elevations, Floor Plans, Sections
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations to 
the scheme are properly considered.

3. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the bathroom window 
at first floor level within the south facing elevation has been fitted with obscure 
glazing. The obscure glazing shall thereafter be retained and maintained for the 
lifetime of the development
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, in accordance with policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan, Part 1, Adopted July 2014.

Page 57



P
age 58



P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 60



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0214

Proposed 
Development:

Outline consent for erection of dwellinghouses

Location: Land at
Abbey Road
Abbeytown
WIgton

Applicant: APUK15002 Limited

Recommendation: That the decision to grant permission subject to conditions be 
delegated to the Head of Place Development upon the 
expiration of the statutory publicity period and the completion 
and signing of a s106 agreement that delivers the equivalent 
of 25% of the homes as Affordable (within the definition of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018), such delivery 
being in the form of a minimum of one on-site discounted 
affordable ownership home (max of 70% of OMV) and the 
remaining requirement comprising of a financial contribution 
towards off site affordable housing within the Borough.

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle of 
development 

Abbeytown acts as a Local Service Centre in the settlement 
hierarchy under Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan. The site 
occupies a central, sustainable location within the village.. 

Relationship to its 
surroundings 

This area of open land is surrounded on all four of its boundaries 
by existing residential development; therefore it is considered to be 
a sustainable site, well related to the built environment of the 
settlement

Highway 
considerations 

The site is served by a single vehicular access onto Abbey Road 
(B5307). The highway authority raises no objections to the 
proposed details subject to highway conditions.

Affordable housing The applicant is agreeable to secure 25% of the sites housing 
under a s106 legal agreement.

Landscape The Council have protected the two mature oak trees sited on the 
western boundary of the site. The site, by virtue of its enclosed 
location  in the village, would not have an adverse impact on the 
surrounding landscape 

Tilted Balance Substantial weight is afforded to the benefits of delivering this mix 
of housing types which make a meaningful contribution to the 
Council’s need and growth strategy identified in the 2014 Local 

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



Plan. These benefits outweigh the limited adverse impacts arising 
from the development. 

Proposal

The application seeks outline consent for residential development with all matters 
reserved. Access is via the sites existing field access off the B5307 highway. No 
quantum of homes has been specified. 

Site

The application site is a level paddock area of overgrown grassland located within the 
centre of the village. The eastern perimeter is bordered by bungalows (The Glebe) with 
an intervening garage court on the boundary. 
The northern (excluding the access) and southern borders are bounded by residential 
development. The western edge abuts a local footpath with another small rear curtilage 
paddock on the opposite side of the footway.
Two large mature oak trees are sited on the western boundary which have been 
protected by a Tree Preservation Order 

Relevant Planning History

2/2014/0053-Outline planning consent for residential development -APPROVED

Representations
Parish Council 

No reply to date

Cumbria County Highways Authority

Initially objected to the application on the grounds of it resulting in increased conflicting 
traffic movements and obstructing visibility for the nearby road junction. Following the 
submission of an amended plan, they withdrew these comments recommending no 
objections subject to the highway conditions of the former consent plus an additional 
condition relating to surface water drainage. The highway authority also recommended 
that the existing access to the neighbouring garages is incorporated into the new access 
to avoid conflicting traffic movements.

United Utilities  

No objection subject to drainage conditions 

Page 62



Cumbria Police

Acknowledge the proposal is for outline consent with no details relating to layout house 
types etc. The planning statement refers to an informal path crossing the site and this 
should be preferably formalised. If approved they request to be consulted on any future 
detailed application.

Environmental Health - No objections subject to conditions re; Construction 
Management Plan and assessment of any contamination.

County Archaeologist

The site has been subject to an earlier archaeological geophysical survey and a small 
excavation. This work identified that buried remains survive of an iron-working site that 
once lay in the outer precinct of the nearby medieval abbey. These archaeological assets 
will be disturbed by the construction of the proposed development. 
The earlier planning consent for a residential development on the site (2/14/0053) had an 
archaeological condition attached (number 15) requiring the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work. To my knowledge this work has not taken place and 
so I recommend that, in the event planning consent is granted, the site is subject to 
archaeological investigation and recording in advance of development. I advise that this 
work should be commissioned and undertaken at the expense of the developer and can 
be secured through the inclusion of a condition in any planning consent. 

Residents/other representations

The application was advertised on site
Thirteen letters of objection were received on the grounds of;

 Loss of sunlight and privacy to neighbouring properties - too close to existing 
boundaries

 Poor narrow access- bottleneck with limited visibility
 Increased traffic in the village with narrow roads and existing  heavy traffic and 

parking – congestion - recommend traffic survey
 Question the need for additional housing - existing empty properties 
 The village will become overdeveloped
 Lack of details
 The principle of the development is inappropriate and the existing use of the land 

should not change
 Loss of mature trees
 Adverse impact on sewage capacity with the existing infrastructure backing up in 

recent floods
 Disturbance to properties during construction-what controls are to be applied to 

control air quality, dust and vibration?
 Impact on wildlife and nature conservation
 Is there the need for an Environmental Impact Assessment 
 How are historic and archaeological interests to be safeguarded?
 Large scale of the development
 What sustainable solutions are to be provided re drainage, transport , education 

Page 63



and leisure? 
 Devaluation of properties (Not a material planning consideration)

Duties 

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas ) Act 1990 states “In 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed 
building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary 
of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.”

Relevant Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved settlement limits

Allerdale Local plan (Part 1) 2014

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S8 - Affordable Housing  
Policy S27 - Heritage Assets
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S30 - Reuse of land  
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy DM16 - Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land
Policy DM17 - Trees, hedgerows and woodland

Other material considerations

Draft Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)

National Planning Policy Framework – July 2018

Allerdale Council Plan – Objectives

 Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of new homes where 
they are needed.

Allerdale Housing Strategy 2016-2021

The Setting of Heritage Assets (2nd Edition) – Historic England – December 2017

Policy weighting 

Page 64



Notwithstanding the duty under section 66 of the Listed Building Act, section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the 
development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the planning 
Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Borough Local Plan 
1999 saved settlement limits and the Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy in 
decision making.

A further material consideration is the appeal decision for land at Little Broughton (PINs 
ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which specifically addressed the weighting afforded to 
development plan policies in the context of paragraphs 215 and 14 of the former NPPF.

In the decision for this appeal the inspector commented that we are now within the 
medium term of the 2014 Local Plan’s delivery period. Within this time it was expected 
that new allocations, within part 2 of the Local Plan and beyond the 1999 settlement 
limits, would come forward for delivery to meet the planned housing delivery trajectories. 
However, no allocations have been made and the emerging Part 2 Local Plan is not 
anticipated to be adopted until 2019.  The significant contributions to housing supply 
anticipated from allocated sites have therefore not yet come to fruition. Other housing 
sites, including on land outside of the 1999 settlement limits, need to come forward to 
meet the 2014 Part 1 Local Plan’s medium terms growth objectives. 

Although the Inspector’s decision predated the publication of the 2018 NPPF, 
comparisons of paragraph 14 of the 2012 version and paragraph 11 of this latest 
publication reveal that it is only rational to still afford significant weight to the decision as 
a material consideration. 

Consequently, for these reasons, the settlement limits from the 1999 Local Plan are out 
of date as are policies S3 and S5 of the 2014 Part 1 Local Plan to the extent where they 
refer to the 1999 settlement limits and the housing numbers for each settlement. As a 
consequence little weight is afforded to the settlement limits and these parts of policies 
S3 and S5. The provisions of paragraph 11 of the NPPF 2018 are therefore engaged.

However, this does not mean to say that other Local Plan Part 1 policies are out of date 
and should not be afforded substantial or even full weight where they are consistent with 
the provisions of the NPPF 2018. In this instance, it is assessed that the settlement 
hierarchy within policy S3 can be afforded substantial weight given its consistency with 
the sustainability principles of the NPPF 2018 as can the criteria a) to f) of policy S5. 
Other polices within the Part 1 Local Plan also maintain their full weight with the 
exceptions detailed in this report.

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF advises that weight can be afforded to emerging plans, that 
weight dependent on the stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved objections and 
consistency with the provisions of the Framework. In this instance Part 2 of the Local 
Plan is at an early stage of preparation and is afforded very little weight in the 
assessment. 

Page 65



Assessment:

Principle

The Council is committed to taking a positive approach in the determination of planning 
applications and will always seek to approve proposals unless material adverse effects 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (Policy S1). This is 
consistent with the overall aim of the u p d a t e d  NPPF and its core planning 
principles to achieve sustainable development through strengthening the economy 
whilst supporting the needs of the community and protecting and enhancing the 
natural, built and historic environment. 

Para 78 of the updated NPPF, in specific reference to rural housing, advises:- 

“To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will 
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. Planning policies should identify 
opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where this will support local services. 
Where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in one village may support 
services in a village nearby. “

This proposal is located within the former adopted saved settlement limits for 
Abbeytown, which was a fundamental planning consideration in the approval of the 
earlier outline permission. Although these are accepted as being out–of–date officers, on 
balance, consider the development represents a sustainable windfall site within the 
original former limits of the earlier plan (demonstrating its relationship to the settlement) 
and therefore is compliant with the objectives of Policies S3 and S5. 

Specifically, policy S5 states that new development will be concentrated within the 
physical limits of Principal, Key and Local Service Centres (PSC, KSC and LSC). 
Abbeytown is a Local Service Centre under the settlement hierarchy of policy S3, serving 
a rural hinterland of smaller villages and hamlets. The functional character of Abbeytown 
as a LSC means that the proposed site is reasonably located in terms of access to 
service and facilities. 

Therefore the principle of the development is considered acceptable contributing to the 
Council’s housing supply at a sustainable location. Its physical relationship to its 
surroundings being enclosed by existing residential development reinforces the sites 
sustainability credentials, as being well related to the settlement. 

The delivery of a meaningful supply of housing is afforded substantial weight to be 
applied in the tilted balance. 

Quantum and density 

Officers were concerned at the original description of a density of up to 20 residential 
dwellings, as there would be the need to qualify that this scale and density of housing 

Page 66



could be achieved at the site. In response the applicant has omitted the reference of the 
number of units. 
The site is constrained by its backland character, access, the relationship with adjoining 
dwellings (with consequent issues of residential amenity) and the presence of protected 
mature trees. In this context it is considered necessary to set an upper quantum of 
development at this outline stage rather than rely on approval of reserved matters. 
Taking the constraints of the site into account it is considered that no more than 15 
dwellings could be accommodated as an absolute maximum. A condition is therefore 
recommended. In the absence of such a condition a quantum of development in excess 
of 15 units would result in adverse impacts that demonstrably and substantially outweigh 
the benefits. 

The scale of the development and its respective constraints do not trigger the thresholds 
for assessment under the Environmental Impact Assessment regulations.

Highway considerations 

The only existing means of vehicular access to the site is via the site’s existing field 
entrance onto the B5307 (Abbey Road). The site is in proximity to this B-road’s junction 
with the “Barrocks“ highway.
The applicant, in response to the highway authority’s original objection and officers 
seeking evidence of the proposed visibility splays, submitted an amended indicative plan.
The highway authority considers the revised details are satisfactory. 

Although the scale of the development is proportionally large for the village it does not 
exceed the criteria necessitating additional supporting transport evidence with the 
application, and the site is located well within the villages designated speed limits. The 
highway merits of the scheme are therefore considered acceptable. 

Affordable housing 

The former approved scheme included a s106 requiring the delivery of 20% of affordable 
housing as part of the overall scheme. 
The current scheme requires reconsideration under the parameters of both Policy S8 of 
the Local Plan and the updated NPPF.

The very recent updated NPPF 2018 represents an up-to –date and more specific 
planning policy position on the government’s objectives in the delivery of affordable 
housing. Although the Allerdale local Plan (Part 1)2014 policies were compliant with the 
former NPPF document 2012, it is considered that chronologically greater weight should 
now be applied to the new NPPF document as the most recent statutory policy 
document. However Policy S8 (which increases the proportion of affordable housing to 
25%) is still afforded moderate weight.

Para 64 of the updated NPPF introduces a new criteria that at least 10% of new housing 
on major developments should be available for affordable home ownership. However 
Policy S8 of the Local plan seeks the provision of 25% local affordable housing on major 
developments, with a ratio of 75% social rented and 25% intermediate affordable units.
Officer consider that, to be consistent with the NPPF,  40% of the affordable housing 
(10% of the overall quantum) should be low cost home ownership  with the remaining 

Page 67



60% (15% of the overall quantum) be offered as per the tenure split of Policy S8. The 
applicant is agreeable to the s106 and therefore it is recommended that this be 
incorporated as an integral part of any decision to reflect the latest planning policy 
revisions. However, with an overall quantum of 15 units, this would only leave 2 dwellings 
as social rented or intermediate units under policy S8. This is too low a quantum to be 
taken on by a Registered Provider and so it is reasonable and appropriate to require an 
off-site contribution instead. As such this would leave the following mix if the maximum 
number of dwellings was delivered

 14 open market value dwellings
 1 discounted affordable ownership dwellings (70% of OMV) 
 Offsite contribution calculated on the basis of 2.25 dwellings.

The 70% of OMV limit is derived from the Council’s Housing Strategy and what has been 
determined to be affordable in Abbeytown. Given that a reserved matters application 
could provide for fewer dwellings, it is recommended that the s106 secures at least 1 
discounted affordable ownership dwelling with the remaining affordable requirement 
made up from the off-site contribution. 

Landscape 

The site’s enclosed location within the built fabric of the settlement pattern does not have 
any adverse impact on the countryside including the Solway Coast’s AONB which is 
located 150m north of the site. Receptors are very much limited to the dwellings 
enveloping the site with glimpses between these houses and along the access route. The 
sense of enclosure and lack of views into the site are a particular result of the long 
terrace of two storey houses on Friars Garth and, to a lesser extent, the terrace on Abbey 
Road. There is a footway abutting the western boundary. This is a sensitive visual 
receptor with relatively high levels of footfall given its surfacing and the fact that it links 
two areas of the village. However, with the quantum limited to 15 dwellings, it is 
considered that the development can respond to this sensitivity and that of the trees and 
accord with the principles of sustainability detailed in development plan policy and the 
NPPF.
To recall, the two large mature trees on the boundary have been protected and a 
condition applied to safeguard it during construction

Heritage issues

The site is located approx. 100m distance west from the Grade 1 listed building and 
scheduled monument of Holme Cultram Abbey/St. Mary’s Church. The listing describes 
the asset thus:-

“Cistercian Abbey now Parish Church. Founded 1150 with early C16 addition and 
alterations dated 1730; 1884-5 vestry and 1913 restoration; 1973 ambulatory. Large 
blocks of red sandstone (brought across the Solway from Scotland). Graduated 
greenslate roof, Welsh slate on porch and vestry. West porch and ambulatory extension; 
6-bay nave/chancel, formerly the nave of the Abbey Church (originally of 9 bays) with 
aisles removed; west twin bellcote and north vestry/organ chamber. 2-storey porch has 
round arch with Latin inscription to Robert Chambers, Abbot 1507 and his coat of arms. 

Page 68



Upper floor rebuilt to form vestry, dated 1730 with Latin inscription. 2-light lancet windows 
flank inscription. Flanking statue recesses of 1507 appearance; the right one has door 
giving access to small chamber. Ambulatory to right, linking with adjoining library and 
shop, has lead-paned windows in chamfered surrounds. Side walls of nave of 1730 have 
round-headed casement windows with glazing bars on 2 levels. West wall projects at 
either side and has been stepped to give the appearance of buttresses. Perpendicular 
east window c1604, moved to its present location in 1730, flanked by former nave aisle 
columns. Interior of porch and ambulatory have grave slabs to various abbots and 
members of the Chambers family of Raby Cote. Heavily moulded west portal with 4 
orders of shaft columns and enriched waterleaf capitals. Interior: arcades have piers of 
clustered columns, with waterleaf capitals, and pointed arches now blocked to form north 
and south walls. Pre-Reformation open timber roof moved to a lower level in c1604. 
Restoration dated MCMXIII on corbel. Norman gallery at west end now gives access to 
former vestry. Royal Arms of Queen Victoria. Free-standing bust of Joseph Saul by 
Joshua Anderson. Jacobean carved oak chair and 2 C15 or early C16 oak muniment 
chests. C20 furnishings and fittings. Late C19 and early C20 stained glass. After the 
Dissolution the Abbey was granted to Oxford University.”

The neighbouring church parish rooms and cottage are also listed in their own right under 
a separate listing as a Grade 2 listed building.
Under section 66 of the Listed Buildings Act the Council has a duty to ensure that new 
development preserves the setting of listed building and its features.

The significance of the Church is much derived from the architectural and historical 
features it possesses. The listing outlines these details. However, undoubtedly the setting 
also contributes to the significance. The building is now the parish church and has been 
since the Dissolution. Its functional setting therefore is primarily now the parish of 
Abbeytown, including the site, as well as some surrounding settlements. However, there 
are a limited number of tourist visistg which also contribute to the functioning of the asset. 
This functional setting is much diminished from that when it was originally built as an 
Abbey and falling congregation numbers mean that it has diminished more recently in the 
late twentieth and early twenty-first century.
The physical setting has changed, especially in the twentieth century with the 
development of residential areas such as The Glebe and Friars Garth. This has certainly 
resulted in some harm to that setting and the proposed development must be seen in that 
context. 
The parish rooms and cottage are very much subservient assets that contribute positively 
to the setting of the Church. 

In assessing the degree of any impact on the setting officers have considered the large 
detached scale of the traditional Abbey building which dominates its locality at the corner 
junction. There would be a direct line of sight between the Abbey and the development 
site but any visual contrast will be negated by both the separation distance and the 
modern semi-detached bungalows (The Glebe) which are sited in the intervening gap 
fronting onto the junction. The development site itself also has a relatively narrow 
frontage facing towards the Abbey building.  The development of housing has the 
potential to contribute positively to the functional setting of the Church.

The Church, which was recently restored following a fire, is still in operational use for 
ecclesiastical purposes and is also a historic tourist asset due to its heritage. It is 

Page 69



considered the development of the site would not encroach on either of these activities 
with the Church and the parish rooms forming a distinctive self-contained landuse on the 
corner of edge of the village, set within its own grounds with little interaction with the 
other neighbouring land uses around it. Similarly the church and its parish rooms would 
continue to retain their tourist value as part of the oldest historic fabric of the region which 
derives from the history and architecture of the existing buildings themselves. The setting 
would retain the immediate open grounds of the foreground to the Church which adds to 
the character and setting of the building and its ancillary church rooms.
Consequently officers consider the proposal will continue to preserve both the physical 
and functional setting characteristics of the listed building with less than substantial harm 
to the significance of the assets. The public benefits of the housing far outweigh this 
impact.   

Ecology

The only records relating to wildlife is its location within a wider goose and swan 
designation which covers the wider locality of the surrounding area. Given the overgrown 
characteristics of the site and its encirclement and proximity to built development it is 
considered to have little potential for foraging by these bird species. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal would have 
local financial consideration through the council obtaining New Home bonus and council 
tax revenue for the development. However this is of little weight in the determination of 
the application.

Conclusion

The principle of the development is considered acceptable contributing to the Council’s 
housing supply at a sustainable location. Its physical relationship to its surroundings 
being enclosed by existing residential development reinforces the sites sustainability 
credentials, as being well related to the settlement. The delivery of a meaningful supply 
of housing is afforded substantial weight to be applied in the tilted balance. The adverse 
impacts of the development are very limited and can be mitigated by conditions and do 
not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the Local Plan and National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole. 
 

 

Page 70



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons
1. Before any works commence, details of the layout, scale and appearance, 

access and landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved matters') shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

       Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following plans:

       5640-001 - Location plan 
       5640-002 Rev B (amendment 26/07/18)
       Amended e-mail dated
       Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

3. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later 
than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission and 
the development shall begin no later than whichever is the later of the 
following dates: 

      a) The expiration of three years from the date of the grant of this permission, or
      b) The expiration of two years from the final approval of the 'reserved matters' 

or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last 
such matter to be approved.

       Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

4.     The development hereby approved is for a maximum of 15 dwellings.
       Reason: This is considered the maximum number of dwellings that can 

acccommodated on site to reflect the prevailng densities in the area, preserve 
residential amenity and the amenity value of the trees protected by the Tree 
Preservation Order and to accord with policies S32 and S33 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan(Part 1) 2014.

5. Provision shall be made in the submission of any 'reserved matters' 
application for  parking spaces for each individual dwellinghouse. In 
compliance with the parking standatrds within the County Councils Cumbria 
Ddesign Guide 

       Reason: To ensure that a minimum standard of off-street parking provision is made 
for the development and in the interests of highway safety, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan(Part 1) 2014.

6. The carriageway, footways and footpaths shall be designed, drained and lit to 
a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further details, including 
longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval before any part of the development hereby permitted is 
commenced. No work shall be commenced until a full specification has been 

Page 71



approved. These details shall be in accordance with the standards laid down 
in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any works so approved shall be 
constructed before the development is completed.

       Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway 
safety.

7. The development shall not be commence until visibility splays providing clear 
visibility of 43 measured along the nearside channel line of the B5307 public 
road from a position 2.4metres inset from the carriageway edge, on the centre 
line of the prospective access road, at a height of 1.05metres, have been 
provided. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no development, trees, 
bushes or other plants which exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be 
permitted to grow within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility 
splays.

       Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access, in compliance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S4 and S22 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan(Part 1) 2014.

8.    Prior to the occupation of the development, a surface water drainage scheme   
based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice 
Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions (inclusive of 
how the scheme shall be managed after completion) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The surface water 
drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory technical 
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent 
replacement national standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public 
sewerage system either directly or indirectly. The development shall be 
completed, maintained and managed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to
manage the risk of flooding and pollution.

9. No development approved by this permission shall commence until a desktop 
study has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
Should the preliminary risk assessment identify any potential contamination 
which may affect human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, 
all necessary site investigation works within the site boundary must be carried 
out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of works 
for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to their commencement.

       Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

10. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desk top study 
under condition 9 be found which poses unacceptable risks to human health, 
controlled waters or the wider environment, no development shall take place 

Page 72



until a detailed remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include an 
appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), the 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description 
and programme of the works to be undertaken including the verification plan.

       Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).2014

11. Should a contamination remediation scheme be required under condition 10, 
the approved strategy shall be implemented and a verification report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to 
the development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into use.

       Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy EN9 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Saved).

12. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the 
site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where 
unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken in 
accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.

       Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

13. No development shall take place until a Construction and Demolition Method 
Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following:

       (a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including the parking and turning facilities and off-street 
compound staff traffic;

      (b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage 
from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. 
All measurements should make reference to BS7445.

       (c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and 
light pollution.

      (d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to protected 
species during construction.

       (e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;

       (f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition;

Page 73



       (g) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
       (h) Hours of working and deliveries;
        (i) Details of lighting to be used on site.
       The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 

development.
       Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties, 

in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S32 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan, (Part 1) 2014.

14. No development shall commence within the site until the applicant has 
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted 
by the applicant and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
written scheme of investigation will include the following components:

      a) An archaeological evaluation;
      b) An archaeological recording programme, the scope of which will be 

dependant upon the results of the evaluation.
      c) Where appropriate, a post-excavation assessment and analysis, preparation 

of a sitearchive ready for deposition at a store approved by the Local Planning 
Authority, completion of an archive report, and submission of the results for 
publication in a suitable journal.

Reason: To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made to 
determine the existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site and 
for the examination and recording of such remains.

15. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.
        Reason: To secure proper drainage and manage the risk of flooding and pollution

 

16. Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage management               
and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted 
to the local planning authority and agreed in writing. The sustainable 
drainage management and maintenance plan shall include as a minimum: 
a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident’s management 
company; and 
b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of 
the sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water 
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. 

The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and 
managed in accordance with the approved plan. 

       Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the 
sustainable drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution 
during the lifetime of the development.

Page 74



17. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a 
plan    has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
to show all existing trees which are to be felled or retained, together with the 
positions and height of protective fences, the areas for the storage of 
materials and stationing of machines and huts, and the position and width of 
temporary site roads and accesses. The details so approved shall be 
implemented prior to the commencement of the development and 
maintained at all times during the construction period.
Reason: In order to ensure that adequate protection is afforded to the existing 
trees  on the site prior to any excavation/construction works on the site.

1) Application Approved Following Revisions

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by, primarily identifying relevant development plan policies, any duties 
applicable as well as other material considerations that have been afforded weight, 
including emerging Local Plan policy, stakeholder representations and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  In this context, having identified matters of concern 
with the application as originally submitted and, if applicable, following negotiations 
with the applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions to the proposal have been 
received.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning 
permission for an acceptable proposal.

Page 75



P
age 76



P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 78


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 2/2018/0096 - Former Police Station, Eaglesfield Street, Maryport - Outline application for conversion of former police station and court into 7 apartments, demolition of store to erect 1 bungalow and demolition of former stable garage
	6 2/2018/0275 - Land at Borriskill, Ellenborough, Maryport - Outline planning permission for the erection of a dwelling with all matters reserved
	7 HOU/2018/0159 - 108 Sycamore Road, Maryport - Two storey side extension to create garage and additional living accommodation
	8 2/2018/0214 - Land at Abbey Road, Abbeytown - Outline consent for erection of dwellinghouses

